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Item 2.01 Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets

On April 13, 2018, WisdomTree Investments, Inc. (“WisdomTree”) filed a Current Report on Form 8-K (the “Initial Form 8-K”) reporting that on April 11, 2018,
WisdomTree completed the acquisition of ETF Securities Limited’s European exchange-traded commodity, currency and short-and-leveraged business (the “European ETC
Business”).

The Initial Form 8-K omitted the financial statements of the business acquired and the pro forma combined financial information as permitted by Items 9.01(a)(4) and
9.01(b)(2) of Form 8-K. This amendment to the Initial Form 8-K is being filed to provide the financial statements and pro forma financial information required by Item 9.01 of
Form 8-K.

Item 7.01 Regulation FD Disclosures

Presentation materials concerning the acquisition by WisdomTree of the European ETC Business, which will be available on WisdomTree’s investor relations website at
http://ir.wisdomtree.com, are attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1.

The information furnished pursuant to this Item 7.01, including Exhibit 99.1, shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits

(a) Financial Statements of Businesses Acquired

The audited combined and carve-out financial statements of the European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited, which comprise the combined and carve-out
statements of financial position as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, and the related combined and carve-out statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
cash flows, and changes in net parent investment for the years then ended, and related notes thereto, are filed herewith as Exhibit 99.2.

(b) Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma combined financial statements and notes thereto of WisdomTree and the European ETC Business as of and for the year ended December 31,
2017 after giving effect to WisdomTree’s acquisition of the European ETC Business are filed herewith as Exhibit 99.3.

(d) Exhibits:
 
23.1   Consent of KPMG Channel Islands Limited

99.1   Presentation, dated May 9, 2018

99.2   Audited combined and carve-out financial statements of the European ETC Business as of and for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

99.3   Unaudited pro forma combined financial statements of WisdomTree and the European ETC Business as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly
authorized.
 

WisdomTree Investments, Inc.

By:  /s/ Amit Muni
              Amit Muni
              Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 9, 2018
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EXHIBIT 23.1
 

Consent of Independent Auditors

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-176652 and 333-212128) on Form S-8 of WisdomTree Investments, Inc. of our report
dated April 26, 2018, with respect to the combined and carve-out statements of financial position of the European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited as of December 31,
2017, 2016 and 2015, and the related combined and carve-out statements of comprehensive income, changes in net parent investment, and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively, the “combined and carve-out financial statements”), which report appears in the Form 8-K/A of
WisdomTree Investments, Inc. dated May 9, 2018. Our report dated April 26, 2018 contains an emphasis of matter paragraph that draws attention to Note 1 to the combined and
carve-out financial statements where the basis of preparation of the combined and carve-out financial statements is disclosed.

/s/KPMG Channel Islands Limited

KPMG Channel Islands Limited
St Helier, Jersey
May 9, 2018
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Forward Looking Statements 

This presentation contains forward-looking statements that are based on our management’s belief and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, these statements relate to future events or our future financial performance, and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions. You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements because they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which are, in some cases, beyond our control and which could materially affect results. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things, the risks described below. If one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties occur, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual events or results may vary significantly from those implied or projected by the forward-looking statements. No forward-looking statement is a guarantee of future performance. You should read this presentation completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from any future results expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. 

In particular, forward-looking statements in this presentation may include statements about: anticipated trends, conditions and investor sentiment in the global markets and exchange-traded products (“ETPs”); anticipated levels of inflows into and outflows out of our ETPs; our ability to deliver favorable rates of return to investors; our ability to develop new products and services; our ability to maintain current vendors or find new vendors to provide services to us at favorable costs; our ability to successfully expand our business into non-U.S. markets; competition in our business; and the effect of laws and regulations that apply to our business. 

Our business is subject to many risks and uncertainties, including without limitation: 

Net outflows in our two largest ETFs – the WisdomTree Europe Hedged Equity Fund and the WisdomTree Japan Hedged Equity Fund – have had, and in the future could continue to have, a negative impact on our revenues. 

Over the last few years, we have expanded our business into Europe, Japan and Canada. This expansion subjects us to increased operational, regulatory, financial and other risks. 

The ETFS acquisition is significant in size relative to our assets and operations and may result in significant changes in our business. Our failure to integrate and manage ETFS successfully could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Declining prices of securities, precious metals and other commodities can adversely affect our business by reducing the market value of the assets we manage or causing customers to sell their fund shares and trigger redemptions. 

Fluctuations in the amount and mix of our AUM, whether caused by disruptions in the financial markets or otherwise, may negatively impact revenues and operating margins, and may impede our ability to refinance our debt upon maturity, increase the cost of borrowing or result in our debt being called prior to maturity. 

We derive a substantial portion of our revenues from a limited number of products, and as a result, our operating results are particularly exposed to the performance of these products and our ability to maintain the AUM of these products, as well as investor sentiment toward investing in the products’ strategies and market-specific and political and economic risk. 

Much of our AUM is held in our U.S. listed ETFs that invest in foreign securities and we therefore have substantial exposure to foreign market conditions and are subject to currency exchange rate risks. 

Many of our ETPs and ETFs have a limited track record, and poor investment performance could cause our revenues to decline. 

We depend on third parties to provide many critical services to operate our business and our ETPs. The failure of key vendors to adequately provide such services could materially affect our operating business and harm our customers. 

Other factors, such as general economic conditions, including currency exchange rate fluctuations, also may have an effect on the results of our operations. For a more complete description of the risks noted above and other risks that could cause our actual results to differ from our current expectations, please see the section entitled “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. 

The forward-looking statements in this presentation represent our views as of the date of this presentation. We anticipate that subsequent events and developments may cause our views to change. However, while we may elect to update these forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we have no current intention of doing so except to the extent required by applicable law. Therefore, these forward-looking statements do not represent our views as of any date other than the date of this presentation. 
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Overview 

+ On April 11, 2018, we acquired the European exchange-traded commodity, currency and short-and-leveraged business (“ETFS”) from ETF Securities Limited (“ETF Securities”), which includes $17.6 billion of assets under management (“AUM”) as of April 10, 2018. 

+ The acquisition elevates us to the 9th largest ETP sponsor globally and the largest global independent ETP provider based on AUM, with significant scale and presence in the U.S. and Europe, the two largest ETP markets. 

+ The purchase price was $523 million consisting of $253 million of cash and 30 million shares of WisdomTree common stock, based on the market close on April 10, 2018. The cash portion of the purchase price was funded with $53 million of balance sheet cash and $200 million from a newly raised term loan. 

+ Given the size of the transaction, we filed proforma financial statements reflecting what the combined financial statements of the company would look like had the acquisition occurred in 2017. This disclosure is required by the SEC. 

+ The proforma financials do not completely reflect what we believe will be the operating results of ETFS as it does not account for synergies we believe we can achieve through the acquisition and due to GAAP requirements, reflected higher expenses of the legacy ETF Securities business which we did not acquire. 

+ Therefore, the purpose of this presentation is to provide: 

? additional information on key transactions related to our acquisition of ETFS 

a description of changes we are making to our financial reporting and operating data disclosures to better reflect the global scale of our business guidance for our international business segment, which will now include ETFS 

Additional information on taxes 
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Key Items Post Transaction 

Below are key items associated with our acquisition of ETFS that we believe investors should understand to better analyze our business going forward: 

+ Contractual gold payments 

+ Term loan and revolving credit facility 

+ Issuance of preferred stock 

+ Preliminary purchase price allocation 

+ Taxes 
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Contractual Gold Payments—Deferred Consideration 

+ In 2008, ETF Securities acquired Gold Bullion Securities (“GBS”) a gold-backed ETC owned by Gold Bullion 

Holdings (“GBH”), a company owned two-thirds by the World Gold Council and one-third by Graham Tuckwell. 

+ The acquisition did not involve any up-front payment. Instead, ETF Securities agreed to pay GBH’s shareholders 

9,500 ounces of gold per year until March 2058, which is then reduced to 6,333 ounces into perpetuity. 

+ Our acquisition of ETFS did not terminate this contractual gold payment obligation. Instead, we assumed this obligation and entered into a new agreement with ETF Securities which provides for the same contractual gold payment in order for ETF Securities to satisfy its obligation to GBH. We refer to this payment to ETF Securities as 

“contractual gold payments” on our income statement. 

+ The contractual gold payment is paid from the advisory fee income we earn for managing the gold-backed ETCs. The payment can be reduced if our advisory fee income from the gold ETCs is not enough to cover this obligation. However, any unpaid amounts accrue and are payable when the advisory fee income is enough to satisfy the obligation. There is no recourse back to WisdomTree for any unpaid amounts. 

+ 9,500 ounces of gold is currently worth $12.5 million based on the price of gold as of May 9, 2018. This amount will be recorded as an operating expense titled “contractual gold payments” on our revised income statement 

(see page 9). 

+ We also recorded the fair value of this obligation on our balance sheet as “deferred consideration” since it arises from ETF Securities’ acquisition of GBS. We determined the present value of this obligation as $172.7 million based on the future price of gold. Every quarter, we will re-measure the fair value of this liability. The change to the fair value, which will be predominantly driven by the price of gold, will flow through our income statement as a non-operating item titled “revaluation of deferred consideration.” 
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Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility 

We entered into a $200 million term loan and $50 million revolving credit facility. We have not used the revolving credit facility. Key terms of the term loan are as follows: 

+ Rate: LIBOr + 1.75 

+ 

Interest expense components (4/11/18 to 12/31/18): 

Cash interest expense (1) 

$6.7 

million 

Amortization of debt financing costs 

2.1 

million 

Total interest expense 

Q2/18 (at current LIBOR rate (1)) 

$2.8 

million 

Q3/18 

3.0 

million 

Q4/18 

3.0 

million 

$8.8 

million 

(1) Based on 12 month LIBOR rate at 5/1/18. Rate is subject to change. 
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Preferred Stock 

WisdomTree issued common and preferred stock as part of the ETFS acquisition. Key terms for the stock portion of the transaction consideration are as follows: 

+ 15.25 million shares of common stock 

+ 14,750 non-voting preferred shares convertible into 14.75 million shares of common stock 

+ The preferred shares have the same priority for dividends, distributions and payments as WisdomTree’s common stock; however, the preferred shares have no voting rights and are not transferable. 

+ ETF Securities has a maximum 9.99% voting interest 

+ There are lockups and standstill agreements in place. The lockups are as follows: 

~ 3 months post closing until July 11, 2018 – 10 million shares 

~9 months post closing until January 7, 2019 – 10 million shares 

~ 15 months post closing until July 6, 2019 – 10 million shares 

+ A portion of the preferred shares are treated as mezzanine equity on the balance sheet between Liabilities and Equity as they may redeemed by ETF Securities under certain circumstances. 
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Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation 

+ WisdomTree engaged a valuation consultant to allocate the purchase price across the assets acquired from ETF Securities. Preliminary allocation of the purchase price using the proforma financial statements as of December 31, 2017 is as follows: 

($ millions) 

Cash 

$253.0 

Shares (30m x $9.00) 

270.0 

Purchase price 

523.0 

Contractual gold payments/Deferred consideration 

172.7 

Total to allocate 

$695.7 

Net assets acquired 

$8.4 

Identifiable intangible assets 

602.4 

Goodwill 

84.9 

Total 

$695.7 

+ The intangible assets will have an indefinite useful life (non-amortizing) and are not tax deductible 

+ Goodwill is not tax deductible as it was structured as a UK stock acquisition
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New Operating Income Statement 

We will be reclassifying our income statement into an operating statement format with non-operating items “below the line.” An explanation of the new line items are highlighted below. 

Revenues 

Advisory fees Other income Total revenues 

Expenses: 

Compensation and benefits 

Fund management and administration Marketing and advertising Sales and business development Professional and consulting fees 

Occupancy, communications and equipment Depreciation and amortization Third party sharing Other Total expenses 

Pretax income Tax expense Net income 

Operating Revenues: 

Advisory fees 

XX 

Other income A 

XX 

Total operating revenues 

XXX 

Operating Expenses: 

Compensation and benefits 

XX 

Fund management and administration 

XX 

Contractual gold payments B 

XX 

Marketing and advertising 

XX 

Sales and business development 

XX 

Third party distribution fees C 

XX 

Professional and consulting fees 

XX 

Occupancy, communications and equipment 

XX 

Depreciation and amortization 

XX 

Other 

XX 

Total operating expenses 

XXX 

Operating income 

XXX 

Interest expense D 

(XX) 

Interest income E 

XX 

Other gains/(losses) 

F 

XX 

Revaluation of deferred 

consideration G 

XX 

Income before income taxes 

XXX 

Income tax expense 

XX 

Net income 

XXX 

A 

Index license fees, 

creation/redemptions fees and 

other income earned from ETPs 

B 

9,500 ounces of gold at average 

daily spot rate 

C 

Renamed “third party distribution 

fees” to better reflect the nature of 

this expense 

D 

Primarily interest expense on debt 

E 

Primarily interest income of 

approximately $400-500k per 

quarter from our loan to 

AdvisorEngine plus interest income 

from investments 

F 

Realized and unrealized 

gains/(losses) on investments and 

currency valuation 

G 

Reflects the change in the value of 

gold prices (mark to market) on the 

deferred consideration obligation (Item to be included within Non-GAAP financial measurements) 
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Reclassification of AUM and net flow disclosures 

+ Following the closing of the transaction we reclassified our AUM and net flows to better align with our new consolidated AUM 

+ AUM and flows are still broken down by the region where the product is listed (U.S., Europe, Canada) along with new asset class/strategy classifications irrespective of listing region 

+ Excel files on the IR website have the details needed to breakdown by classification by region for those looking to get more granular 

Old Classification 

U.S. Listed 

International Developed Market Equity International Hedged Equity 

Emerging Market Equity 

U.S. Equity 

Currency 

Fixed Income 

Alternatives 

Europe Listed 

UCITS ETFs Boost ETNs 

Canada Listed 

Canada ETFs 

New Classification 

Region 

U.S. Listed 

Europe Listed 

Canada Listed 

Asset Class/Strategy International Equity 

Emerging Market Equity 

U.S. Equity 

Commodity & Currency 

Leveraged & Inverse 

Fixed Income 

Alternatives 

ETF Securities 

Commodity ETPs Currency ETPs 

Leveraged & Inverse Commodity ETPs Leveraged & Inverse Currency ETPs 

10



 
WT International Segment 2018 Guidance 

The following provided additional guidance on expense line items for our International segment post the ETFS acquisition, which is now included in this segment. There are no changes to the overall guidance since our earnings call on April 27, 2018. 

+ ETF Securities closed 4/11/18 (89% of Q2); reflected in below 2018 guidance + Average AUM and advisory fee rate disclosed daily on website + Other income: $2.0—$2.5 million + Compensation: $15—$17 million 

+ Fund management and administration: 73.5 – 74.5% gross margin on a go-forward basis (calculated as total operating revenues less fund costs divided by total operating revenues) 

+ Contractual gold payment: 9,500 oz. of gold annually x daily average price of gold ($1,312 / oz. as of 5/9/18) 

+ Marketing: ~$4.5 million 

+ Sales and business development: ~$3.5 million 

+ Professional and consulting fees: ~$1 million 

+ Third-party distribution fees: ~$150k 

+ Occupancy, communications and equipment: ~$1 million 

+ Depreciation and amortization: ~$100k 

+ Other: ~$800k 

May differ due to changes in FX rate (1.36 GBP/USD) Excludes acquisition related costs 
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Taxes 

The table below reflects the components of our tax expense assuming annualized Q1/18 results less acquisition related expenses and run rate guidance for ETFS. Pre Tax Pre Tax Tax Tax Jurisdiction Product NOL Income Rate Expense WisdomTree US 21% States 5% Total US 75.0 26% 19.5 Ireland UCITS ETFs 11. A (3.8) 13% Jersey ETC products (3.8) 0% UK Service company —   19% Canada ETF platform 10.3 A (3.0) 27% (10.0) 0% 0.0 B ETFS Jersey ETC products 5.9 0% UK Service company 24.0 19% 29.9 15% 4.5 Debt (8.8) 19% (1.7 C Other tax adjustments 3.6 TOTAL 86.2 30% D 25.9 A Cumulative net operating losses in these jurisdictions. We will be able to shelter this amount of pretax earnings in the future once these jurisdictions turn profitable B We are unable to recognize a tax benefit for the losses generated by these jurisdictions or offset profits in other jurisdictions. Instead, the losses accumulate and we will be able to shelter income in the future once these jurisdictions turn profitable C Debt to fund the ETFS transaction was raised in the UK where we can deduct the interest expense. D Overall tax rate guidance for 2018 
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Historical Financials 

The table below reflects the historical breakdown of “Other income” into the revised income statement format. No other line items changed Q1 2018 Q4 2017 Q3 2017 Q2 2017 Q1 2017 Previously Reported Other Income US Segment $883 $539 $590 $508 $1,312 International Segment (34) 22 (178) (103) 25 Total $849 $561 $412 $405 $1,337 Reclassified Other Income US Segment $148 $159 $140 $127 $105 International Segment —   —   —   —   —   Total $148 $159 $140 $127 $105 Interest Income US Segment $962 $862 $773 $641 $584 International Segment 1 —   —   —   —   Total $963 $862 $773 $641 $584 Other Gains/(Losses), net US Segment $(227) $(482) $(323) $(260) $623 International Segment (35) 22 (178) (103) 25 Total $(262) $(460) $(501) $(363) $648 TOTAL: $849 $561 $412 $405 $1,337 

13





Exhibit 99.2

 

European ETC Business
of ETF Securities Limited

Management Report and Audited
Financial Statements

For the Financial Years Ended
31 December 2015, 2016 & 2017



European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Contents

  

 
Management Report   

General Information    1-2 

Management Responsibilities    3 

Independent Auditors’ Report    4-5 

Financial Statements   

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income    6 

Statement of Financial Position    7 

Statement of Cash Flows    8 

Statement of Changes in Net Parent Investment    9 

Notes to the Financial Statements    10-36 
 

   

  The intelligent alternative.  www.etfsecurities.com               
   



European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
General Information

  

 

ETF Securities Limited and its subsidiaries specialise in the development and issuance of exchange-traded products (“ETPs”). ETPs are transparent securities
issued by open-ended investment vehicles and traded on exchanges. They are designed to ensure the price of the securities issued tracks the performance of
the underlying commodity, index or currency while providing market liquidity for the investor. ETPs typically are not actively managed, are significantly lower in
cost when compared to actively managed mutual funds and are easily accessible to investors. As a result, ETPs have grown rapidly in recent years, particularly
when compared to more traditional investment products such as mutual funds.

ETPs include the following types of products:

 •  Exchange-traded commodities (“ETCs”) which track the performance of commodities either by holding the underlying physical commodity or tracking
futures prices;

 •  Exchanged-traded funds which track equity, bond and other indices; and
 •  Exchange-traded currencies and other exchange-traded products, which track the performance of currencies or other underlying investments.

The business model is to establish new trading platforms to allow investors to gain exposure to different asset classes. These are based on special purpose
entities (referred to as “Issuers”). The Issuers are established and incorporated as companies and offer listed securities (“Securities”) that are traded on various
stock exchanges.

The European element of ETF Securities Limited’s ETC business (the “European ETC Business”) acts as the manager for the following Issuers:
 •  Gold Bullion Securities Limited is the issuer of 1 physically backed gold security;
 •  ETFS Metal Securities Limited is the issuer of 6 physically backed precious metal securities;
 •  ETFS Hedged Metal Securities Limited is the issuer of 2 physically backed hedged precious metal securities;
 •  ETFS Commodity Securities Limited is the issuer of over 100 commodity securities;
 •  ETFS Hedged Commodity Securities Limited is the issuer of 36 hedged commodity securities;
 •  Swiss Commodity Securities Limited is the issuer of 28 hedged commodity securities;
 •  ETFS Oil Securities Limited is the issuer of 9 energy securities;
 •  ETFS Foreign Exchange Limited is the issuer of over 100 currency securities; and
 •  ETFS Equity Securities Limited is the issuer of 12 equity securities.

No trading or management of futures contracts is required of the Issuers because the Issuers enter into arrangements to acquire an equivalent asset exposure
to the underlying assets from a third party, which fully hedges the exposure of each Issuer. The purpose of the Issuers is to provide a vehicle that permits
trading of the Securities, not to make gains from trading in the underlying assets themselves.

The European ETC Business generates revenues from management fees charged to the Issuers for the provision of management services - pursuant to the
terms of the securities issued, the European ETC Business is entitled to:

 (1) Management and Licence fees which are calculated by applying a fixed percentage (as set out in each Security prospectus) to the contractual value of
the Issuers’ Securities in issue on a daily basis; and

 (2) Creation and Redemption fees on the issue and redemption of the Issuers’ Securities.

No creation or redemption fees are payable when investors trade in the ETPs on a listed market such as the London Stock Exchange.

For each of the years presented in these financial statements, the European ETC Business was managed by the ETF Securities Leadership team
(“Management”):
 •  Graham Tuckwell (Founder and Chairman of ETF Securities Limited);
 •  Joseph Roxburgh (CFO of ETF Securities Limited); and
 •  Mark Weeks (CEO of ETF Securities (UK) Limited).
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
General Information (Continued)

  

 

Description of these financial statements

These financial statements (the “Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements”), which comprise the Combined and Carve-Out Statements of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income, Financial Position, Cash Flows, and Changes in Net Parent Investment for the years ended 31 December 2015 to 2017 and
related notes, have been prepared in order to report the financial performance of the European ETC Business separately from the rest of the ETF Securities
Limited business. Management believes the financial information reflects the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows associated with the European
ETC Business and reflects the economic activity associated with the functions that would be necessary to operate independently. However, as the European
ETC Business did not operate as a stand-alone entity during those periods, the financial information may not be indicative of the European ETC Business’s
future performance and does not necessarily reflect what its results of operations, financial position, and cash flows would have been had the European ETC
Business operated as a separate entity apart from the ETF Securities Limited group during those periods.

The Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of the accounting policies set out in note 1.
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Management Responsibilities

  

 
Management are responsible for preparing the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements of the European ETC Business in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 1.

Management must not approve the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they have been properly prepared. In
preparing the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements, management are required to:
 
 •  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
 •  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

 •  state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures being disclosed and explained in the Combined
and Carve-Out Financial Statements;

 •  assess the ability of the European ETC Business to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and

 •  use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intend to liquidate the European ETC Business or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Management are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the transactions of the European ETC Business
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the European ETC Business and enable them to ensure that the Combined and
Carve-Out Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies stated. They have a general responsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the European ETC Business and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors
ETF Securities Limited

Report on the Combined and Carve-out Financial Statements of
the European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited

We have audited the accompanying combined and carve-out financial statements (the “financial statements”) of the European ETC
business of ETF Securities Limited (the “European ETC Business”), which comprise the combined and carve-out statements of financial
position as of 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015, and the related combined and carve-out statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, cash flows, and changes in net parent investment for the years then ended, and related notes to the financial
statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
business’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the business’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the European ETC
Business as of 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Emphasis of Matter

As described in Note 1 to the combined and carve-out financial statements, the financial statements have been prepared to reflect the
financial position and performance of the European ETC Business as if it were a stand-alone entity for the years ended 31 December
2017, 2016 and 2015. The European ETC Business was not a stand-alone entity for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015
and therefore, the financial statements do not necessarily reflect the financial position, financial performance, changes in net parent
investment, and cash flows of the European ETC Business had the business operated as a stand-alone business, and may not form a
reliable basis for the evaluation of the future financial performance or position of the European ETC Business.
 

KPMG Channel Islands Limited
Chartered Accountants
St Helier, Jersey
26 April 2018
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Combined and Carve-Out Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

  

 
 

   Notes  

    Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

        Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

        Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Revenue    3     63,234    55,065    41,771 

Service Fees    3     5,691    3,830    5,547 

Expenses    3     (35,087)    (32,975)    (25,145) 
        

     33,838    25,920    22,173 

Finance Charge    4     (9,186)    (8,549)    (7,162) 
Revaluation and Foreign Exchange Differences    5     (1,699)    (21,524)    5,461 

        

Profit / (Loss) Before Tax      22,953    (4,153)    20,472 

Tax    9     (379)    (692)    (83) 
        

Profit / (Loss) After Tax      22,574    (4,845)    20,389 
        

Total Comprehensive Result and Other Comprehensive Income      22,574    (4,845)    20,389 
        

All the items dealt with in arriving at the results for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015 relate to continuing operations. The notes on pages 10
to 36 form a part of these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements.
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Combined and Carve-Out Statement of Financial Position

  

 
 

   Notes  

As at  
      31/12/2017  

£000s    

As at  
          31/12/2016  

£000s    

As at  
          31/12/2015  

£000s  
Assets         
Non-current Assets         

Investments    10     101    101    101 
Intangible Asset    11     35,633    35,633    35,633 
Property, Plant and Equipment    15     143    81    141 
Deferred Tax    9     110    193    110 

        

     35,987    36,008    35,985 
        

Current Assets         
Cash and Cash Equivalents      15,001    20,811    11,788 
Bullion Held      105    103    688 
Trade and Other Receivables    13     9,277    7,921    5,679 

        

     24,383    28,835    18,155 
        

Total Assets      60,370    64,843    54,140 
        

Current Liabilities         
Trade and Other Payables    14     11,527    16,896    7,617 
Deferred Consideration    12     5,880    5,769    4,408 

        

     17,407    22,665    12,025 
        

Long Term Liabilities         
Subordinated Loan    19     1,500    950    950 
Deferred Consideration    12     91,237    89,588    68,132 

        

     92,737    90,538    69,082 
        

Net Parent Investment      (49,774)    (48,360)    (26,967) 
        

Total Liabilities and Equity      60,370    64,843    54,140 
        

The notes on pages 10 to 36 form a part of these financial statements.

The Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements on pages 6 to 36 were approved and were signed on 26 April 2018 by:
 

Graham Tuckwell
Chairman, ETF Securities Limited
 

Joseph Roxburgh
Chief Financial Officer, ETF Securities Limited
 

Mark Weeks
Chief Executive Officer, ETF Securities (UK) Limited
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Combined and Carve-Out Statement of Cash Flows

  

 
 

   Notes  

    Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

        Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

        Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s  
Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities Before Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities1    20a     (2,246)    (5,791)    (406) 

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities         
Increase in Receivables      (6,060)    3,977    (4,610) 
Increase / (Decrease) in Payables      (739)    3,123    (1,601) 
Cash Realised in Respect of Bullion 1    20b     27,458    22,922    15,601 

        

     18,413    24,231    8,984 

Income Tax Paid      (1,240)    (52)    (210) 
        

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities      17,173    24,179    8,774 

Cash Flow From Investing Activities         
Payments for Property, Plant and Equipment    15     (144)    (41)    (30) 

        

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities      (144)    (41)    (30) 

Cash Flow From Financing Activities         
Movement in Net Parent Investment      (23,988)    (16,548)    (12,156) 
Subordinated Loan drawndown    19     550    -    - 

        

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities      (23,438)    (16,548)    (12,156) 

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents      (6,409)    7,590    (3,412) 
Effects of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes      599    1,433    251 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year      20,811    11,788    14,949 

        

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year      15,001    20,811    11,788 
        

The notes on pages 10 to 36 form a part of these financial statements.

 
 
1 There are non-cash transactions as detailed in note 20.
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Combined and Carve-Out Statement of Changes in Net
Parent Investment

  

 

   

Total  
Net Parent  

    Investment  
£000s  

Balance at 1 January 2015    (35,200) 

Movement in Net Parent Investment    (12,156) 
Total Comprehensive Income    20,389 

  

Balance at 31 December 2015    (26,967) 
  

Balance at 1 January 2016    (26,967) 

Movement in Net Parent Investment    (16,548) 
Total Comprehensive Loss    (4,845) 

  

Balance at 31 December 2016    (48,360) 
  

Balance at 1 January 2017    (48,360) 

Movement in Net Parent Investment    (23,988) 
Total Comprehensive Income    22,574 

  

Balance at 31 December 2017    (49,774) 
  

The notes on pages 10 to 36 form a part of these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements.
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Notes to the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements

  

 
1. Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies are described below.

Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements

The purpose of these financial statements (the “Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements”) is to report the historical financial information and performance
of the European ETC Business separately from the rest of the ETF Securities Limited group. The Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements present only
the historical financial information of the European ETC Business that has been acquired by WisdomTree Investments, Inc (“WisdomTree”), comprising certain
assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows associated with the European ETC Business that are reported within entities of the ETF Securities Limited
group, together with the following entities which were acquired:
 
 •  ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited;
 •  ETF Securities (UK) Limited; and
 •  ETFS Holdings (Jersey) Limited (collectively the “Acquired Entities”).

During the periods presented within these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements, the European ETC Business functioned as part of the larger group of
companies controlled by ETF Securities Limited, and accordingly, a process has been completed to combine and carve-out the Acquired Entities together with
other assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows associated with the European ETC Business in preparing the Combined and Carve-Out Financial
Statements.

The Acquired Entities presented in these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements do not form a consolidation group, therefore the Combined and
Carve-Out Financial Statements have been derived from the aggregation of the individual company financial statements of the Acquired Entities. All intra-
company balances, income, expenses and unrealized gains and losses arising from transactions between the Acquired Entities were eliminated when preparing
the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements. Transactions with other ETF Securities Limited group entities have been disclosed as transactions with
related parties.

The legal structure was not considered the key factor in determining the perimeter of the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements, but rather the basis of
the economic activities. As a result:

 
•  identifiable assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses that were not related to the European ETC Business have been excluded, specifically those

balances related to the Australian business of the ETF Securities Limited group, which was included within the individual company financial statements
of ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited, but which has not been acquired by WisdomTree; and

 
•  identifiable assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses that were related to the European ETC Business but recorded elsewhere in the ETF Securities

Limited group have been included, specifically those balances related to the deferred consideration (note 12), licence contributions (note 3), and loyalty
payments (note 3).

The Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of metal bullion
and certain financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, together with changes required to revalue the provision for deferred
consideration to fair value which are recorded through profit or loss. The Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB.

Management believes the basis of preparation described above results in the financial information reflecting the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and cash
flows associated with the European ETC Business and reflects the economic activity associated with its functions that would be necessary to operate
independently. However, as the European ETC Business did not operate as a stand-alone entity during those periods, the financial information may not be
indicative of the European ETC Business’s future performance and does not necessarily reflect what its results of operations, financial position, and cash flows
would have been had the European ETC Business operated as a separate entity apart from the ETF Securities Limited group during those periods.
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Notes to the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements (Continued)

  

 
1. Accounting Policies (continued)
 
Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements (continued)
 
The key judgements applied by Management in preparing these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements are disclosed in note 2.

Accounting Standards
 
(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations adopted in the year:

In preparing the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements, Management have adopted all new or revised Standards and Interpretations, including:

For the Year ended 31 December 2017:
 •  IAS 12 Income Taxes
 •  IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows – Disclosure Initiative
 •  Annual Improvements to IFRS (including IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities)

For the Year ended 31 December 2016:
 •  IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Disclosure Initiative

 •  IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures – Applying the Consolidation Exception

 •  IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
 •  IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
 •  IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
 •  IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture – Agriculture: Bearer Plants
 •  IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
 •  Annual Improvements to IFRS, including the following standards:
 •  IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
 •  IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
 •  IAS 19 Employee Benefits
 •  IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

For the Year ended 31 December 2015:
 •  IAS 19 Employee Benefits

Of those Standards and Interpretations adopted, none resulted in any significant effect on these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements.
 
(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective:

Management have not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as amended in 2014) (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)
A finalised version of IFRS 9 which contains accounting requirements for financial instruments, replacing IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.

The standard contains requirements in the following areas:

 

•  Classification and measurement. Financial assets are classified by reference to the business model within which they are held and their
contractual cash flow characteristics. Introduces a ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ category for certain debt instruments.
Financial liabilities are classified in a similar manner to under IAS 39, however there are differences in the requirements applying to the
measurement of an entity’s own credit risk.
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Notes to the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements (Continued)

  

 
1. Accounting Policies (continued)
 
Accounting Standards (continued)
 
(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued):
 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
 

 •  Impairment. Introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for the measurement of the impairment of financial assets, so it is no longer necessary for
a credit event to have occurred before a credit loss is recognised.

 •  Hedge accounting. Introduces a new hedge accounting model that is designed to be more closely aligned with how entities undertake risk
management activities when hedging financial and non-financial risk exposures.

 •  Derecognition. The requirements covering the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities are carried forward from IAS 39.

The business intends to adopt IFRS 9 for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2018. An assessment of the impact of adoption of IFRS 9 has been
undertaken where it was concluded that there would be minimal impact on the amounts reported in respect of the financial instruments.

IFRS 16 Leases (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019)
IFRS 16 specifies how to recognise, measure, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors continue to
classify leases as operating or finance, with lessor accounting under IFRS 16 being substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17.

The business intends to adopt IFRS 16 for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2019. A preliminary assessment of the impact of adoption of IFRS 16
has been undertaken where it was concluded that there would be a requirement to record a value in use asset and a related lease liability in respect of the
lease related to the office space (this lease is disclosed in note 16).

The business intends to adopt the following standards and amendments when they become effective. An assessment of the impact of adoption of these
standards and amendments has been undertaken and Management does not anticipate that they will have a significant impact on future financial
statements of the European ETC Business:

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)
Amends IFRS 2 Share-based Payment to clarify the standard in relation to:

 •  Accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that include a performance condition.
 •  Classification of share-based payment transactions with net settlement features.
 •  Accounting for modifications of share-based payment transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (no effective date set)
Amends IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) to clarify the treatment of the sale or
contribution of assets from an investor to its associate or joint venture, as follows:

 •  Requires full recognition in the investor’s financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a
business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations).

 •  Requires the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a gain or loss is recognised only to the
extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution of assets occurs by an investor transferring
shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of control of the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Notes to the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements (Continued)

  

 
1. Accounting Policies (continued)
 
Accounting Standards (continued)
 
(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued):
 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)
IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers. The five steps in the model are as follows:

   1. Identify the contract with the supplier.
   2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract.
   3. Determine the transaction price.
   4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts.
   5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Guidance is provided on topics such as the point in which revenue is recognised, accounting for variable consideration, costs of fulfilling and obtaining a
contract and various related matters. New disclosures about revenue are also introduced.

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Makes amendments to the following standards:

 

•  IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements – Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that when an entity obtains control of a
business that is a joint operation, it remeasures previously held interests in that business. Amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that when an entity
obtains joint control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity does not remeasure previously held interests in that business (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019)

 •  IAS 12 Income Taxes – Amendments in respect of income tax consequences of dividends (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019)

 •  IAS 23 Borrowing Costs – Amendments in respect of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation  (effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019)

 •  IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – Amendments to clarify certain fair value measurements (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018)

 •  IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – Amendments regarding long-term interests in associates and joint ventures (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019)

Management has considered other standards and interpretations in issue but not effective and concluded that they would not have a material impact on the
future financial periods when they become available.

Going Concern

Management consider the operations of the European ETC Business to be on-going, with a reasonable expectation that the business has adequate resources
to enable it to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis. In arriving at this judgement Management noted that the reported results of the European ETC Business are impacted each
year by the revaluation of Deferred Consideration, which is a non-cash item reflecting changes in the gold price. The payments in respect of the Deferred
Consideration are of limited recourse to the net gold inflows received. In order to hedge against the short term movements in the gold price, the European ETC
Business retains gold ounces from the net gold inflows that are adequate to cover the next bi-annual payment as it falls due. The Deferred Consideration is an
annual cost continuing into perpetuity as disclosed in note 12.

As part of the assessment, and due to the nature of the business, consideration was given to the situations that could arise that may result in the early
redemption of the outstanding Securities, and thus no fee income being earned. The Securities and the individual Issuers themselves are non-recourse and
therefore any liabilities falling due are the responsibility of the issuing company which incurs the liability and is not the responsibility of the rest of the European
ETC Business.
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Notes to the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements (Continued)

  

 
1. Accounting Policies (continued)
 
Accounting Standards (continued)
 
Investments

Investments are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the statement of financial position. On disposal of such investments, the difference
between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised through profit or loss.

Investments are reviewed annually for indications of impairment by Management. If Management determine there are indications of impairment, a detailed
assessment of the recoverable amount of each investment as a cash-generating unit based will be undertaken through the application of a value in use
calculation.

During each of the years presented in these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements, no such indications of impairment have been identified.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:
 •  the European ETC Business has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;
 •  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
 •  a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(when the effect of the time value of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be
measured reliably.

Deferred Consideration

The Deferred Consideration is a non-financial liability as it represents an obligation to pay gold into perpetuity arising from the acquisition of Gold Bullion
Securities Limited (note 12). Due to the uncertain value of the gold flows, it has been treated as a provision. Deferred Consideration is adjusted at each period
end to reflect Management’s best estimate of the provision required to settle this obligation as a result of changes in the gold price or the discount rate.
Management consider this estimate equates to the fair value. The change in value is recorded in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income under the heading “Revaluation and Foreign Exchange Differences”. Management’s determination of fair value forms a significant accounting estimate,
which is described further in note 2 and note 12.

The unwinding of the discount to reflect the movement in the value of the provision due to the passage of time, keeping all other assumptions constant, is
expensed under the heading ”Finance Charge” in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (and is shown in note 4 as “Accretion
Expense on Deferred Consideration”).
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Notes to the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements (Continued)

  

 
1. Accounting Policies (continued)
 
Intangible Assets

Intangible assets that are acquired separately with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets are reviewed for any indications of impairment at least annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that goodwill may be impaired.
If any such indicators exist, the recoverable amount of the intangible asset is estimated in order to determine if there is an impairment, and the extent of such
impairment. For the purpose of impairment testing, Management will assess the future flows allocated to the cash generating unit supports the intangible asset.
If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the intangible asset, an impairment loss is recognised directly through
profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for intangible assets may be reversed in a subsequent period.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value, are recognised through profit or loss
when the intangible asset is derecognised.

Product Development Costs

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Internally generated intangible assets arising from the European ETC Business’s development activities are recognised only if all of the following conditions are
met:
 •  an asset is created that can be separately identified;
 •  it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and
 •  the development cost (excluding any research costs) of the asset can be measured reliably.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
No product development costs have been eligible to be capitalised during the years ended 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation and any provisions for impairment. Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of
fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, over their expected useful lives on the following basis:
 
Computer Equipment   33.33% straight line
Leasehold Improvements   straight line over the period of the lease
Office Equipment   20% straight line

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Foreign Currencies

Management consider that Sterling is the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions of
the European ETC Business.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated. The resulting differences are accounted for through profit or loss.
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Notes to the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements (Continued)

  

 
1. Accounting Policies (continued)
 
Interest Income

Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the business and the amount of income can be measured reliably.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that the economic benefits will flow to the business and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the
fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates and other sales taxes or duty.

Management and licence fees are calculated by applying a fixed percentage (set out in each Security prospectus) to the market value of the Issuers’ debt
Securities in issue on a daily basis.

Fees received for the issue and redemption of the Issuers’ Securities are recognised at the date on which the transaction becomes legally binding. All other
income and expenses are recognised on an accruals basis.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items
that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.

Current Tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because
of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The European ETC Business’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Combined and Carve-Out Financial
Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the European ETC Business expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Notes to the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements (Continued)

  

 
1. Accounting Policies (continued)
 
Share Based Payments

The cost of equity-settled transactions with service providers is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. The expense is measured at the fair
value of the services received over the service period. Expenses will be recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest.

Financial Instruments

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents include deposits held at call with banks.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost less appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts.

Loans and Trade and Other Payables

Loans and trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Bullion Held

The European ETC Business receives gold and other precious metal bullion as fee income pursuant to the terms of the Metal Securities issued. The European
ETC Business is obliged to pay a fixed amount of gold every six months under the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement for the acquisition of Gold Bullion
Securities Limited, and a variable amount every month under the terms of the Licence and Marketing Support Agreement. Gold is held to meet these
obligations. The European ETC Business may also retain gold and other precious metal bullion for its own account and this bullion held is treated as a
non-monetary asset used as a store of wealth or as quasi-currency, and is revalued to market value using the last quote provided by the London Bullion Market
Association (“LBMA”) on its last business day prior to the year-end date.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the European ETC Business at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and the reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately through profit or loss.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line
basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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2. Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The presentation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the accounting policies and to disclose areas where accounting estimates/judgments have the most significant impact on the amounts
reported within these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements.

The critical accounting estimates are disclosed as relevant throughout these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements and summarised below:
 
 •  Consolidation

All of the European ETC Business’s ETPs are issued by special purpose vehicles which, as disclosed in note 10, have a nominal amount of share
capital owned by the European ETC Business. IFRS requires consolidation of entities controlled by the European ETC Business. Control is defined as:

 
 •  having the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity;
 •  with exposure/rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and
 •  the ability to use its power to affect such returns from the investee.

The application of the definition of control requires judgment, and based on this definition, management have determined that the European ETC
Business controls the following entities:

 
 •  ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited (the management subsidiary);
 •  ETF Securities (UK) Limited (the marketing and service company); and
 •  ETFS Holdings (Jersey) Limited (the intermediate European ETC Business holding company).

For all of the entities listed above the European ETC Business owns a majority of the voting equity interests and is therefore entitled to any residual
interest that may remain in these entities.

These Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements do not include the Issuers (as disclosed in note 1). Based on the contractual terms, the
European ETC Business assessed that the ownership of the share capital is not the dominant factor in deciding control of the Issuers, as the variable
returns from the Issuers’ activities is attributable to the holders of the Securities. In the event that any of the Issuers were consolidated, this would result
in an increase in gross liabilities (reflecting the fair value of Securities issued by the Issuers) and a corresponding increase in gross assets (reflecting
the fair value of the Issuers’ investment in underlying assets), amounts which would be largely offset given the pass-through nature of the Issuers’
activities.

 
 •  The carrying value of the intangible asset (note 11)

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment by Management, who must exercise judgement to estimate the value of those investments. Management
have applied a methodology of assessing the recoverable amount of the intangible asset as a cash-generating unit based on a value in use calculation.
The calculations use cash flow projections based on detailed financial budgets or gold flows predicted as a result of the Assets under Management. A
discount rate of 15% (2016 and 2015: 15%), based on Management’s estimations of the rate that the market would expect on an investment of an
equivalent risk, has been applied to those cash or gold flows to generate their total present value. No indications of impairment were identified as at
31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015.

The fair value of Deferred Consideration represents the estimated present value of the obligation to deliver gold under the agreements described in note
12, by:

 
 (i) converting the future gold payments into GBP using gold spot prices at the year end; and

 (ii) calculating the present value of the future GBP payments at a discount rate determined using market assessments of the return required
for the specific risks of this liability.
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2. Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
 
 •  The value of Deferred Consideration (note 12)

The critical accounting judgment relates to Management’s determination of an appropriate discount rate to discount the value of the future gold flows.
This discount rate was then used to value the Deferred Consideration, together with the gold price based on last quote provided by the LBMA, being the
AM fix rate on 29 December 2017 of £960.840 per fine troy ounce (2016: £942.580, 2015: £716.364).

Management have considered changes in the risk factors that would impact the carrying value of the deferred consideration, and have estimated an
appropriate discount rate to be 9.5% (2016 and 2015: 9.5%) for each of the years presented, taking into account the developments in observable risk-
free rates, as adjusted for estimated business-specific risk, each year. In making this determination, Management note the long-term nature of the
Deferred Consideration, the fact it is settled in gold bullion through receipt of fees in gold bullion, and the anticipated surplus of fees out of which the
Deferred Consideration is paid. Management also note that the discount rate used is in line with a previously agreed settlement, which has
subsequently lapsed. In the opinion of Management, this discount rate results in a best estimate of the provision at which settlement of the Deferred
Consideration could be achieved at each reporting date.

 
 •  Carve-out Adjustments

The identifiable assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses that were included within the individual company financial statements of ETFS Management
Company (Jersey) Limited or ETF Securities (UK) Limited but that were not related to the European ETC Business have been excluded, specifically
those balances related to the Australian business of the ETF Securities Limited group, which has been acquired by WisdomTree.

The identifiable assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses that were related to the European ETC Business but recorded elsewhere in the ETF
Securities Limited group have been included, specifically those balances related to the deferred consideration, licence contributions, and loyalty
payments.

Furthermore, amounts charges by ETF Securities Limited to ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited in respect of the Intellectual Property owned
by ETF Securities Limited in respect of the European ETC Business have been excluded on the basis that such Intellectual Property would be
transferred to WisdomTree as part of the acquisition.

 
 •  Tax (note 9)

The taxation charges have been recognised within these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements using the allocation method – the recognition
of the taxation charges incurred by ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited and ETF Securities (UK) Limited for each of the years presented.
Management has not made any adjustments to the taxation charges or provisions to reflect that the charges that may have been incurred had the
European ETC Business operated as a separate entity apart from the ETF Securities Limited group during those periods. Specifically, no taxation has
been applied to the increased profits recognised in respect of the removal of the charges in respect of the Intellectual Property as these amounts were
subject to a rate of taxation of 0%.

 
 •  The calculation of the expense recognised under the share based payment arrangements with service providers (note 18)

Calculations were undertaken by Management to determine the fair value of the services received. The expense is estimated based upon Assets under
Management together with the level of net creations within the relevant underlying products. The fee rates were determined using the fees agreed with
other equivalent independent service providers as a benchmark, together with an assessment of the level and the quality and level of services received.
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3. Operating Profit

Operating profit includes the following items of revenue and expense:
 

   

    Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

    Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

    Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s  
Revenue       

Management and Licence Fees (note 21)       
Precious Metal Securities    38,966    33,949    23,823 
Commodity Securities    19,889    17,005    15,228 
Currency Securities    2,412    2,293    2,035 
Equity Securities    694    705    288 

      

   61,961    53,952    41,374 

Creation and Redemption Fees    401    325    397 
Other income    872    788    - 

      

   1,273    1,113    397 

Service Fees (note 21)    5,691    3,830    5,547 
      

      
      

Total Revenue    68,925    58,895    47,318 
      

Expenses       

Licence, Marketing Support and Participation Fees    (2,800)    (2,135)    (1,017) 
      

Product Operating Expenses       
Metal Storage Fees    (5,061)    (4,532)    (2,871) 
Index Licence Fees    (2,111)    (1,307)    (986) 
Market Making Fees    (2,504)    (3,861)    (1,526) 
Administration Fees    (1,541)    (1,501)    (1,449) 
Listing and Regulatory Fees    (1,350)    (1,188)    (1,074) 
Professional Services Fees    (710)    (647)    (713) 

      

   (13,276)    (13,036)    (8,619) 
      

Employee Costs and Expenses (note 7)    (12,757)    (12,008)    (9,853) 
      

Other Expenses       
Office Costs    (2,212)    (1,960)    (1,912) 
Travel Costs    (713)    (682)    (610) 
Corporate Costs    (557)    (532)    (551) 

      

   (3,482)    (3,174)    (3,073) 
      

Marketing and Advertising Costs    (2,772)    (2,622)    (2,583) 
      

      

Total Expenses    (35,087)    (32,975)    (25,145) 
      

 
(i) Management and Licence fees are presented net of loyalty payments made to certain investors who retain substantial holdings of Securities of ETFS

Metal Securities Limited and Gold Bullion Securities Limited.
 

(ii) Service Fees are fees charged to companies within the ETF Securities Limited group, that are not part of the European ETC Business, for the provision of
services in respect of investor relations, marketing, financial analysis and consulting.
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3. Operating Profit (continued)
 
(iii) Licence, Marketing Support and Participation Fees represent payments in physical gold bullion of £1,866,890 (2016: £1,423,959, 2015: £677,879) to the

World Gold Council, £933,445 (2016: £711,979, 2015: £338,940) to Graham Tuckwell.
 
(iv) Metal Storage Fees are paid by the European ETC Business for custodian services in respect of metal bullion.
 
(v) Market Making Fees are for provision of online pricing services for the securities in the underlying Issuers. The balance includes amounts recognised in

respect of share warrants issued to the European ETC Business’s service providers of £975,356 (2016, £1,053,063, 2015: £465,357). Further details in
respect of these warrants are disclosed in note 18.

 
(vi) Administration Fees include administration and accountancy fees, investment management fees, registrar services and trustee fees.
 
(vii) Corporate Costs include: legal and general expenses specifically incurred for the purposes of developing new products and setting up subsidiary Issuer

companies; dedicated marketing and advertising costs associated with new products; and costs associated with the filing and listing of products on new
exchanges.

 
4. Finance Charge
 

   

    Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

    Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

    Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Accretion Expense on Deferred Consideration    9,186    8,549    7,162 
      

The Accretion Expense on Deferred Consideration comprises:
 •  fixed payments of physical gold bullion (9,500 ounces per annum payable as 4,750 ounces biannually) for a period of at least 50 years; and

 •  the accretion expense recognised from the unwinding of the discount (which represents the increase in the carrying amount of the liability for the
passage of time) in respect of the deferred consideration relating to the acquisition of Gold Bullion Securities Limited.

Additional information is set out in note 12 to these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements.
 
5. Revaluation and Foreign Exchange Differences
 

   

    Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

    Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

    Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Revaluation of Bullion    170    417    (278) 
Net Foreign Exchange Difference    (24)    1,017    324 
(Loss) / Gain on Revaluation of Deferred       
Consideration    (1,845)    (22,958)    5,415 

      

   (1,699)    (21,524)    5,461 
      

Due to the change in the gold price at the end of the year, the fair value of the Deferred Consideration increased by £1.8 million (2016: increase by
£23.0 million, 2015: decrease by £5.4 million). Additional information is set out in note 12 to these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements.
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6. Management Remuneration

The ETF Securities Limited group reviews and revises remuneration packages of all key management personnel from time-to-time. The aggregate remuneration
for Management comprised:
 

   

    Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

    Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

    Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Wages and Salaries (including Social Security       
Costs)    479    464    464 
Bonus    895    949    381 

      

Total    1,374    1,413    845 
      

The Wages and Salaries include contributions to personal pensions schemes of 7% of basic salaries. There are no other post employment benefits or other long
term benefits provided to Management. Management did not receive any Share Based Payments during the years ended 31 December 2017, 2016 or 2015.

 
7. Employee Costs

The average number of persons, including executive directors, employed in the European ETC Business was as follows:
 

   

    Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

Number     

    Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

Number     

    Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

Number   

Sales    14      17      23   
Marketing and Research    17      18      15   
Corporate and Product Management    31      29      28   
Finance and Administration    18      16      14   

      

   80      80      80   
      

The aggregate remuneration of these employees comprised:
 

   

    Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s     

    Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s     

    Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s   

Wages and Salaries (including Social Security       
Costs)    6,753      6,120      6,329   
Bonus    4,163      5,090      2,461   
Other Employee Costs    1,841      798      1,063   

      

   12,757      12,008      9,853   
      

The share based payments disclosed in note 18 do not represent payments made to employees.
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5. Remuneration of Auditor
 

   

    Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s     

    Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s     

    Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s   

Audit of Annual Financial Statements:       
ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited    7      7      7   
ETF Securities (UK) Limited    20      20      20   
Audit Related Services    14      10      3   

      

   41      37      30   
      

The European ETC Business has also incurred audit fees for the year of GBP 154,624 in respect of the Issuers (2016: GBP 147,180, 2015: GBP 145,000).
 
9. Taxation
 

   

    Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

    Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

    Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s  
Tax Expense Comprises:       
Current Tax Expense in Respect of the Current Year    296    775    55 
Deferred Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss    83    (83)    28 

      

Total Tax Expense Relating to Continuing Operations    379    692    83 
      

The Expense for the Year can be Reconciled to the Accounting Profit as Follows:       

Profit / (Loss) for the Year Before Taxation    22,953    (4,153)    20,472 
      

Income Tax Expense Calculated at the standard rate of tax in
Jersey at 0%    -    -    - 

Effect of:       
Profits taxed at rates other than 0%    357    677    32 
Adjustments Recognised in the Current Year in       
Relation to the Current Tax of Prior Years    1    (7)    1 
Amounts Recorded Through Profit and Loss       
Disallowable for Tax    18    22    21 
Bonus Provisions    (67)    104    - 
Other    (13)    (21)    1 

      

   296    775    55 
      

Current Tax Expense    296    775    55 
      

Deferred Taxation:       

Depreciation in Excess of Capital Allowances    -    21    - 
Provisions (Bonus)    83    (104)    28 
Other    -    -    - 

      

Deferred Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss    83    (83)    28 
      

      

Total Tax Expense Relating to Continuing Operations    379    692    83 
      

 
   

- 23 -  The intelligent alternative.  www.etfsecurities.com   
   



European ETC Business of ETF Securities Limited
 
Notes to the Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements (Continued)

  

 
9. Taxation (continued)
 
The effective tax rate is based on the standard domestic tax rate of ETF Securities Limited in Jersey, being 0%. The reconciliation presented reflects this
effective tax rate of 0% with a reconciling item for the effect of different tax rates applied to the results of the Acquired Entities:
 •  ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited was subject to a standard rate of corporation tax in Jersey of 10% (2016 and 2015: 10%).

 •  ETF Securities (UK) Limited was subject to a standard rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom of 20% from January to March 2017 and 19%
from April to December 2017, which has resulted in an average effective rate of 19.25% for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016 and 2015: 20%).

Deferred Tax Asset
 

   

As at    
        31/12/2017    

£000s      

As at    
        31/12/2016    

£000s      

As at    
        31/12/2015    

£000s    

Balance at Beginning of the Year    193    110    138 
Movement on Deferred Tax Asset    (83)    83    (28) 

      

Deferred Tax Asset at End of the Year    110    193    110 
      

The deferred tax asset relates to timing differences between accounting provisions and payments. It is probable that the future taxable profits will generate by
the European ETC Business and accordingly the deferred tax asset is recognised in these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements.

 
10. Investments

The European ETC Business holds 100% of the share capital of the following Issuers (which are all incorporated and registered in Jersey). As disclosed in note
2 the variable returns from the Issuers’ activities is attributable to the holders of the Securities, and based on the contractual terms, the European ETC Business
has assessed that the ownership of the share capital is not the dominant factor in deciding control of these entities; as a result these entities are not
consolidated within these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements, but are recorded at historic cost less provisions for impairment:

Furthermore, as the variable returns from the Issuers’ activities is attributable to the holders of the Securities, the value attributable to these investments is the
historic cost, as this is the residual return attributable to the European ETC Business.
 

Name   Principal Activities   

As at  
31/12/2017  

£    

As at  
31/12/2016  

£    

As at  
31/12/2015  

£  

ETFS Oil Securities
Limited

  

Listing and issuing 9 energy securities, designed
to track the performance of commodities,
principally oil   1,000    1,000    1,000  

ETFS Commodity
Securities Limited

  

Listing and issuing of over 100 commodity
securities, designed to track the performance of
commodities   1    1    1  

Gold Bullion Securities
Limited   

Listing and issuing 1 physically backed gold
security, designed to track the price of gold   100,000    100,000    100,000  

ETFS Metal Securities
Limited

  

Listing and issuing 6 physically backed precious
metal securities, designed to track the price of
precious metals   2    2    2  
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10. Investments (continued)
 

Name   Principal Activities   

As at  
31/12/2017  

£    

As at  
31/12/2016  

£    

As at  
31/12/2015  

£  

ETFS Foreign Exchange
Limited

  

Listing and issuing of over 100 currency
securities, designed to track foreign exchange
performance   2    2    2  

ETFS Hedged
Commodity Securities
Limited   

Listing and issuing 36 hedged commodity
securities, designed to track the performance of
commodities   2    2    2  

ETFS Hedged Metal
Securities Limited

  

Listing and issuing 2 physically backed hedged
precious metal securities, designed to track the
price of precious metals   2    2    2  

ETFS Equity Securities
Limited   

Listing and issuing 12 equity securities, designed
to track the performance of equities   2    2    2  

Swiss Commodity
Securities Limited

  

Listing and issuing 28 hedged commodity
securities, designed to track the performance of
commodities   2    2    2  

        

Total     101,013  101,013  101,013
        

In respect of these investments:
 
 •  All of the management fee revenue and the expenses are recorded in these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements within “Revenue” and

“Expenses” respectively in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (with additional information set out within note 3); and
 

 •  All of the management fees receivable and expenses payable at the year end are recorded in these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements
within “Trade and Other Receivables” and “Trade and Other Payables” respectively on the Statement of Financial Position.

 
11. Intangible Asset

The intangible asset arose from the purchase of Gold Bullion Securities Limited (“GBS”). GBS has issued Gold Securities that entitles GBS to receive future fee
income, in the form of gold bullion, which supports the value of the European ETC Business’s investment in those future income streams. The Gold Securities
have an indefinite useful life and therefore there is no foreseeable end to this future fee income stream.
 

   

As at  
        31/12/2017  

£000s    

As at  
        31/12/2016  

£000s    

As at  
        31/12/2015  

£000s  

Cost    35,633    35,633    35,633 
Accumulated Impairment Losses    -    -    - 

      

   35,633    35,633    35,633 
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11. Intangible Asset (continued)
 
Intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment by Management, who must exercise judgement to estimate the recoverable amount of the cash
generating units to which the intangible asset has been allocated. The recoverable amount of the intangible asset arising from the acquisition of Gold Bullion
Securities Limited has been reviewed for impairment based on a value in use calculation which uses gold flow projections which have been converted into cash
flows using the gold spot price. As at 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015, no indicators of impairment were identified by Management.

 
12. Deferred Consideration

Deferred Consideration arose on the purchase of Gold Bullion Securities Limited (“GBS”). GBS has issued Gold Securities that entitles GBS to receive future
fee income, in the form of gold bullion, which supports the value of the European ETC Business’s investment in GBS. The Gold Securities have an indefinite
useful life and therefore there is no foreseeable end to this future fee income stream. In the event that gold ounces earned by the European ETC Business, after
deduction of expenses incurred, is insufficient to pay the Deferred Consideration, the European ETC Business’s liability is limited to the amount received.
Ultimately therefore, the Deferred Consideration liability could be reduced if the net gold inflows are insufficient to meet the obligations under the terms of the
agreements relating to the purchase of GBS. As the current gold inflows are sufficient to meet these obligations, the European ETC Business has not accounted
for any such reduction.

The Deferred Consideration is payable to former owners of GBS, as follows:
 •  39% World Gold Council (“WGC”);
 •  28% Gold Bullion Investment Trust (for the benefit of the members of the WGC); and
 •  33% Graham Tuckwell (ultimate majority shareholder and director of ETF Securities Limited).

The Value of the Deferred Consideration Comprises:
 

   
        31/12/2017  

£000s    
31/12/2016  

£000s    
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Value Brought Forward    95,357     72,540     78,002  
Payments Made (in Gold) During the Year    (9,498)     (9,011)     (7,293)  
Reclassification to Current Liability (in Gold)    227     321     84  
Accretion Expense (note 4)    9,186     8,549     7,162  
Loss / (Gain) on Revaluation (note 5)    1,845     22,958     (5,415) 

      

Value at Year End    97,117     95,357     72,540  
      

Due Within 1 Year    5,880     5,769     4,408  

Due After 1 Year    91,237     89,588     68,132  

As disclosed in note 1, there are significant judgements and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the Deferred Consideration, which management
determine by discounting the value of the future contractual gold payments. The spot gold price was used to calculate risk free cash flows. The principal
judgment made relates to Management’s determination of an appropriate discount rate. The discount rate is subjective as it needs to factor in the risks specific
to this liability, taking into account the developments in observable risk-free rates, as adjusted for estimated business-specific risk, each year. Management also
note that as the liability is a result of a contract between parties any early settlement of this liability would be as a result of negotiation and it may be materially
different to the value of the provision recognised.
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12. Deferred Consideration (continued)
 
Management have considered changes in the risk factors that would impact the carrying value of the Deferred Consideration, and have estimated an
appropriate discount rate to be 9.5% (2016 and 2015: 9.5%).

With all other variables remaining the same, a change in the discount rate to 8.5% would increase the total provision as at 31 December 2017, and the related
revaluation recognised through profit or loss for the year then ended by £10,663,229 (2016: £10,497,385, 2015: £8,004,405). A change in the discount rate to
10.5% would decrease the total provision as at 31 December 2017, and the related revaluation recognised through profit or loss for the year then ended by
£8,751,374 (2016: £8,610,540, 2015: £6,562,116).

 
13. Trade and Other Receivables
 

   

As at  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Fees Receivable    5,561    6,315    4,225 
Prepayments    497    603    570 
Balances due from Related Parties    2,873    565    589 
Other Debtors    346    438    295 

      

   9,277    7,921    5,679 
      

All trade receivables are due within 30 days of the year end date. There are no amounts at the reporting date that are past due. Management consider that the
carrying amount of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to their fair value.

 
14. Trade and Other Payables
 

   

As at  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Trade Payables    5,512    6,143    4,032 
Tax Payable    5    742    19 
Marketing, Licence Support and Participation       
Fees    670    467    223 
Gold due to the Vendors of GBS    2,950    2,894    2,187 
Balances due to Related Parties    2    4,239    - 
Deferred Bonus Accrual    2,388    2,411    1,156 

      

   11,527    16,896    7,617 
      

 

   

As at  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Trade Payables are ageing as follows:       

0-30 days    5,268    5,767    3,821 
31-60 days    74    293    135 
61-90 days    111    23    7 
Over 90 days    59    60    69 

      

   5,512    6,143    4,032 
      

Management consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment
 

   

Computer  
Equipment  

£000s    

Leasehold  
Improvements  

£000s    

Office  
Equipment  

£000s    
Total  
£000s  

Cost         

At 1 January 2015    534    518    235            1,287 

Additions    -    30    -    30 
        

At 31 December 2015    534    548    235    1,317 

Additions    -    41    -    41 
        

At 31 December 2016    534    589    235    1,358 
        

Additions    -    -    -    - 
Disposals    -    143    1    144 

        

At 31 December 2017    534    732    236    1,502 
        

Accumulated Depreciation         

At 1 January 2015    393    402    154    949 

Charge for the Year    110    70    47    227 
        

At 31 December 2015    503    472    201    1,176 

Charge for the Year    29    49    23    101 
        

At 31 December 2016    532    521    224    1,277 
        

Charge for the Year    2    73    7    82 
        

At 31 December 2017    534    594    231    1,359 
        

Net Book Value         

At 31 December 2017    -    138    5    143 
        

At 31 December 2016    2    68    11    81 
        

At 31 December 2015    31    76    34    141 
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16. Leasing Arrangements

Operating leases relate to the lease of offices in London with a term of 10 years and a break clause occurring after 5 years. The operating lease contract
contains a clause for 5-yearly market rental reviews. The European ETC Business does not have an option to purchase the leased offices at the expiry of the
lease periods.
 

   

Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s   
Amounts Recognised as an Expense:       
Minimum Lease Payments    483      460      350   

      

The European ETC Business has outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as
follows:
 

   

As at  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2015  

£000s   
Non-cancellable Operating Lease       
Commitments:       
Within one year    483      483      -   
In the second to fifth years inclusive    1,067      1,546      -   

      

   1,550      2,029      -   
      

Liabilities Recognised in Respect of Non-cancellable Operating Leases:       

Lease Incentives       
Current    192      97      -   
Non-current    223      286      -   

      

   415      383      -   
      

 
17. Financial Risk Management

The European ETC Business structure is complex and therefore to ensure that the European ETC Business is managing its risk effectively Management
manage the exposure to risk at each individual entity level, however the nature of the risks faced by each entity are largely similar. The risk management
policies employed by Management are discussed below:

(a) Credit Risk / Settlement Risk

Credit risk primarily refers to the risk that a customer will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Company. Credit risk also
arises from cash and cash equivalents.

European ETC Business policy provides that credit decisions are based on credit rating. The European ETC Business aims to ensure highest possible
quality in accounts receivable. Credit risk is monitored by regular review of the aged outstanding trade receivables by the accounts department at each
entity level. The majority of the European ETC Business’s revenue is received as management fees from the underlying Issuers, and is subject to the
terms of the respective service level agreements.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the leading banks used are those with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.
Cash deposits are placed only with the European ETC Business’s relationship banks, and deposits are diversified to limit exposure to any single credit
institution.
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17. Financial Risk Management (continued)
 

(a) Credit Risk / Settlement Risk (continued)
 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
 

   

As at  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Cash and Cash Equivalents    15,001    20,811    11,778 
Trade and Other Receivables    9,277    7,921    5,679 

      

   24,278    28,732    17,467 
      

(b) Liquidity Risk

The liquidity risk of the European ETC Business is managed by determining the optimal timing of settlement of management fees received with the
settlement of trade and other payables. The European ETC Business receives gold as fee income pursuant to the terms of the Gold Securities issued, and
is obliged to pay a fixed amount of gold every six months in respect of the Deferred Consideration, however the payments in respect of the Deferred
Consideration are of limited recourse to the net gold inflows received therefore the European ETC Business does not have any residual liquidity risk in
respect of the Deferred Consideration. In order to hedge against the short term movements in the gold price, the European ETC Business retains gold
ounces from the net gold inflows that are adequate to cover the next bi-annual payment as it falls due.

(c) Interest Rate Risk

The European ETC Business does not have significant exposure to interest rate risk.

European ETC Business entities hold cash at large international banks and this is where the cash received from the fees is held. The rate of interest
received on the account is at the banks’ variable rate. Due to the level of cash held in the account Management do not believe that any movement in
interest rates would materially affect the operations of the European ETC Business. As a result, a sensitivity analysis in respect of interest rate risk has not
been included in these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements.

The European ETC Business regularly reassesses market conditions, the financial risk, and the terms of deposits so as to optimise return on capital.

(d) Foreign Currency and Bullion Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The European ETC Business is exposed to exchange rate fluctuations as it undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies; income is
primarily in US Dollars or in bullion, however expenses are paid in US Dollars, Sterling, Euros and in bullion. The European ETC Business does not hedge
or enter into forward or derivative transactions, however the European ETC Business holds cash or cash equivalents in currencies other than its functional
currency.

As noted above, the European ETC Business retains gold ounces adequate to meet its future obligations in respect of Deferred Consideration therefore the
gains or losses recognised as a result of changes in the gold price will not crystallise.

Entities within the European ETC Business must maintain minimum levels of share capital and liquid assets to meet the requirements under relevant laws
and regulations. These requirements have been met throughout the year.
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17. Financial Risk Management (continued)
 

(d) Foreign Currency and Bullion Risk (continued)
 

The following tables summarise the European ETC Business’s exposure to currency risks.
 

   
GBP  

£000s    
EUR  

£000s    
USD  

£000s    
AUD  
£000s    

Bullion  
£000s    

Total
£000s

31 December 2017:             

Assets             
Cash at Bank and Bullion             
Held      10,473    1,021    3,496    11    105    15,106 
Other Assets    3,948    344    1,694    -    3,291    9,277 

  

Total Assets    14,421    1,365    5,190    11    3,396    24,383 
  

Liabilities             
Deferred Consideration    -    -    -    -    97,117    97,117 
Creditors    5,607    202    2,098    -    3,620    11,527 

  

Total Liabilities    5,607    202    2,098    -    100,737    108,644 
  

31 December 2016:             
Assets             

Cash at Bank and Bullion             
Held    15,845    1,130    3,836    -    103    20,914 
Other Assets    1,522    686    2,004    -    3,709    7,921 

  

Total Assets    17,367    1,816    5,840    -    3,812    28,835 
  

Liabilities             
Deferred Consideration    -    -    -    -    95,357    95,357 
Creditors    10,587    346    2,602    -    3,361    16,896 

  

Total Liabilities    10,587    346    2,602    -    98,718    112,253 
  

31 December 2015:             
Assets             

Cash at Bank and Bullion             
Held    3,351    2,030    6,204    203    688    12,476 
Other Assets    2,093    373    1,583    -    1,630    5,679 

  

Total Assets    5,444    2,403    7,787    203    2,318    18,155 
  

Liabilities             
Deferred Consideration    -    -    -    -    72,540    72,540 
Creditors    3,458    245    1,504    -    2,410    7,617 

  

Total Liabilities    3,458    245    1,504    -    74,950    80,157 
  

Had the value of other currencies to bullion changed by 5% in relation to sterling, with all other variables held constant, then the profit or loss for the year
would have also changed (either by an equal and opposite profit or loss) by:

 

   
Year Ended  

31/12/2017    
Year Ended  

31/12/2016    
Year Ended  

31/12/2015  
   £000s    £000s    £000s  

EUR    95    119    132 
USD    763    632    608 
AUD    7    18    24 
Bullion    6,693    4,791    4,734 

      

Total    7,558    5,560    5,498 
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17. Financial Risk Management (continued)
 

(e) Capital Management

Both ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited and ETF Securities (UK) Limited must monitor and demonstrate compliance with regulatory capital
requirements. These companies have processes and controls in place to monitor compliance with the relevant regulatory capital requirements and no
breaches were reported during the year.

 
18. Share-Based Payments - Service Provider Share Options

Susquehanna International Securities Limited (“Susquehanna”) acts on behalf of the European ETC Business as a market maker (as described in note 3). ETF
Securities Limited of the European ETC Business entered into a warrant agreement with Susquehanna to issue up to 4,500 shares in ETF Securities Limited
with an expiry date of 16 September 2019. 2,250 of the warrants vested in September 2015 and 2,250 of the warrants vested in September 2017. All of the
warrants have an exercise price of $2,200.

The total amount recognised through the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in respect of these services during the year ended
31 December 2017 was £1,738,643 (2016: £2,553,597, 2015: £1,032,152). £763,287 (2016: £1,500,534, 2015: £566,795) of the expense recognised during the
period will be settled in cash and £975,356 (2016: £1,053,063, 2015: £465,357) has been recognised as a recharge from ETF Securities Limited in respect to its
equity settled share based payment.

The warrants are denominated in US Dollars, and have therefore been reported in the currency of the agreement. The following table illustrates the number and
weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of, and movements in, service provider options in ETF Securities Limited’s shares during the year:
 
   2017   2016   2015
   Number   WAEP   Number   WAEP   Number   WAEP
Options Denominated in USD ($)     $ 000s     $ 000s     $ 000s 
Outstanding at 1 January    4,500    2,200    4,500    2,200    4,586    2,458 
Cancelled during the             
Year    -    -    -    -    (4,586)    (2,458) 
Granted during the Year    -    -    -    -    4,500    2,200 

            

Outstanding at Year End    4,500    2,200    4,500    2,200    4,500    2,200 
            

Exercisable at Year End            4,500            2,200            2,250            2,200            2,250            2,200 
            

 
19. Subordinated Loan
 

   

As at  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

As at  
31/12/2015  

£000s  
Subordinated Loan:       
Due to ETF Securities Limited    1,500    950    950 

      

ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited entered into a subordinated loan agreement with ETF Securities Limited to allow ETFS Management Company
(Jersey) Limited to draw down up to £2,000,000 (2016 and 2015: £1,000,000). The purpose of the facility is to assist the Company’s compliance with Adjusted
Net Liquid Assets capital requirements which are imposed under its regulatory licence (note 17). The facility is interest free, and can only be repaid with the
prior consent of the company’s regulator, the Jersey Financial Services Commission.
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19. Subordinated Loan (continued)
 
ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited has drawn down £1,500,000 of the facility as at 31 December 2017 (2016 and 2015: £950,000). In the opinion of
management, the fair value of the subordinated loan is not materially different to the carrying amount.

On 28 February 2018, ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited issued 50,000 ordinary shares of £40 each to ETF Securities Limited for a total
consideration of £2,000,000. ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited used the proceeds of this share issue to repay the subordinated loan balance.
Following repayment of the subordinated loan balance, ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited terminated the subordinated loan agreement with ETF
Securities Limited.

 
20. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities Before Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
 

   

Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Profit / (Loss) for the Year Before Taxation    22,953    (4,153)    20,472 

Non-cash Movements       
Loss / (Gain) on Revaluation of Deferred Consideration    1,845    22,958    (5,415) 
Management and Licence Fees in Bullion    (38,966)    (33,949)    (23,823) 
Expenses in Bullion    2,800    2,136    1,017 
Accretion Expense on Deferred Consideration    9,186    8,549    7,162 
(Gain) / Loss on Revaluation of Bullion Held    (170)    (416)    278 
Foreign Exchange Differences    24    (1,017)    (324) 
Depreciation    82    101    227 

      

Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities       
Before Changes in Operating Assets and
Liabilities    (2,246)    (5,791)    (406) 

      

(b) Bullion Transactions:

The European ETC Business receives ounces of bullion in respect of Management and Licence Fees relating to Precious Metal securities. In addition the
European ETC Business pays bullion ounces in respect of certain items of expenditure, as well as the gold payments required in respect of the Deferred
Consideration (see note 12). The bullion flows are as follows:

 

   

Year Ended  
31/12/2017  

£000s    

Year Ended  
31/12/2016  

£000s    

Year Ended  
31/12/2015  

£000s  

Bullion Held at 1 January    103    688    732 
Management and Licence Fees Received in Bullion    39,336    32,005    24,254 
Expenses Paid in Bullion    (2,522)    (1,108)    (1,240) 
Deferred Consideration Payments in Bullion    (9,498)    (9,011)    (7,293) 
Revaluation of Bullion Held    144    451    (164) 
Bullion Retained at 31 December    (105)    (103)    (688) 

      

Cash Realised in Respect of Bullion    27,458    22,922    15,601 
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21. Related Party Disclosures
 
Remuneration of key management personnel is disclosed in note 6.

Up to 11 April 2018, when the change in ownership described in note 22 occurred, Graham Tuckwell was the ultimate controlling party of the European ETC
Business through his majority shareholding in its parent, ETF Securities Limited. Amounts totalling £4,042,943 (2016: £3,732,169, 2015: £2,814,608) were paid
to Graham Tuckwell in respect of Deferred Consideration and the Licence and Marketing Support Fees. The amounts outstanding at the year end are disclosed
in notes 12 and 14.

The subordinated loan is between ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited and ETF Securities Limited, which is a related party under IAS 24. Further
details in respect of the subordinated loan are disclosed in note 19.
The management fees earned from the underlying Issuers which are related parties under IAS 24 are disclosed in note 3, and summarised below:
 

   

Management  
Fee Income  

£000s    
Outstanding  

£000s  
Year Ended 31 December 2017     

ETFS Oil Securities Limited    1,533    101 
ETFS Commodity Securities Limited    16,904    1,335 
ETFS Metal Securities Limited    24,750    2,103 
Gold Bullion Securities Limited    12,759    1,034 
ETFS Foreign Exchange Limited    2,412    201 
ETFS Hedged Commodity Securities Limited    1,326    148 
ETFS Hedged Metal Securities Limited    1,457    155 
Swiss Commodity Securities Limited    126    16 
ETFS Equity Securities Limited    694    179 

    

   61,961    5,272 
    

Year Ended 31 December 2016     

ETFS Oil Securities Limited    1,564    154 
ETFS Commodity Securities Limited    14,358    1,654 
ETFS Metal Securities Limited    21,669    2,097 
Gold Bullion Securities Limited    11,783    1,039 
ETFS Foreign Exchange Limited    2,293    389 
ETFS Hedged Commodity Securities Limited    991    156 
ETFS Hedged Metal Securities Limited    497    600 
Swiss Commodity Securities Limited    92    18 
ETFS Equity Securities Limited    705    196 

    

   53,952    6,303 
    

Year Ended 31 December 2015     

ETFS Oil Securities Limited    1,229    92 
ETFS Commodity Securities Limited    13,444    1,201 
ETFS Metal Securities Limited    15,863    1,165 
Gold Bullion Securities Limited    7,916    566 
ETFS Foreign Exchange Limited    2,035    161 
ETFS Hedged Commodity Securities Limited    478    68 
ETFS Hedged Metal Securities Limited    44    90 
Swiss Commodity Securities Limited    77    10 
ETFS Equity Securities Limited    288    332 

    

   41,374    3,685 
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21. Related Party Disclosures (continued)
 
The service fees earned from the wider ETF Securities Limited group which are related parties under IAS 24 are disclosed in note 3, and summarised below:
 

   

Service Fee  
Income  

£000s    
Outstanding  

£000s  

Year Ended 31 December 2017     

Go ETF Solutions LLP    92    25 
Go ETF Management Limited    2,059    1,527 
ETF Securities Limited    3,540    1,305 
ETF Securities (International) Limited    -    16 

    

   5,691    2,873 
    

Year Ended 31 December 2016     

Go ETF Solutions LLP    83    83 
Go ETF Management Limited    771    445 
ETF Securities Limited    2,976    - 
ETF Securities (International) Limited    -    37 

    

   3,830    565 
    

Year Ended 31 December 2015     

Go ETF Solutions LLP    39    15 
Go ETF Management Limited    342    184 
ETF Securities Limited    5,166    318 
ETF Securities (International) Limited    -    72 

    

   5,547    589 
    

Balances outstanding in the table above in respect of ETF Securities (International) Limited represent amounts paid by ETF Securities (UK) Limited but not
attributable to ETF Securities (UK) Limited. These balances are therefore receivable back from ETF Securities (International) Limited. At 31 December 2017
£1,611 was also due to ETF Securities (International) Limited. At 31 December 2016 £4,238,913 was due to ETF Securities Limited following changes to the
Services agreement being applied retrospectively through the year ended 31 December 2016.

ETF Securities Limited is the ultimate parent company of the Acquired Entities. Balances in respect the net parent investment and the movement in the net
parent investment during the years ended 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015 are presented in the Combined and Carve-Out Statement of Changes in Net
Parent Investment.

 
22. Events after the period

Termination of the Administration Services Deed Poll between the ETFS Management Company (Jersey)
Limited and ETFS Metal Securities Australia Limited (“MSAL”)

On 23 February 2018, ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited issued notice to MSAL of its intention to terminate the Administration Services Deed Poll
between ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited and MSAL. The termination took effect on 25 March 2018, and resulted in MSAL entering into a similar
relationship with ETFS Management (AUS) Limited, a related group entity. As a result of the termination of the Administration Services Deed Poll the income
and expenses in respect of MSAL’s operations no longer flow through ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited.
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22. Events after the period (continued)
 
Issue of Shares and Repayment of the Subordinated Loan Facility

On 23 February 2018 ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited issued 50,000 ordinary shares of £40 each to ETF Securities Limited for a total
consideration of £2,000,000. ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited used the proceeds of this share issue to repay the subordinated loan balance.
Following repayment of the subordinated loan balance, ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited terminated the subordinated loan agreement with ETF
Securities Limited.

No other significant events have occurred since the end of the reporting period up to the date of signing the Financial Statements which would impact on the
financial position of the European ETC Business disclosed in these Combined and Carve-Out Financial Statements.

Change of Ownership

On 13 November 2017 WisdomTree (an exchange-traded product sponsor and asset manager), announced that it had entered into an agreement to acquire
ETF Securities Limited’s European exchange-traded product business as a going concern. The change of ownership occurred on 11 April 2018, from which
date WisdomTree succeeded Graham Tuckwell as the ultimate controlling party of the European ETC Business. As part of the financing of the acquisition,
WisdomTree entered into a credit facility agreement with Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, and entities within the European ETC Business entered
into guarantee agreements associated with this credit facility.
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EXHIBIT 99.3

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following unaudited pro forma combined financial information and explanatory notes present the impact of the acquisition by WisdomTree Investments, Inc.
(“WisdomTree” or the “Company”) of the European exchange-traded commodity, currency and short-and-leveraged business (the “European ETC Business”) of ETF Securities
Limited (“ETF Securities”) on April 11, 2018, on their respective historical financial positions and results of operations. The unaudited pro forma combined financial
information combines the historical financial information of WisdomTree and the European ETC Business of ETF Securities as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017.
The unaudited pro forma combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2017, assumes the acquisition was completed on that date. The unaudited pro forma combined statement
of operations gives effect to the acquisition as if it had been completed on January 1, 2017.

On November 13, 2017, the Company entered into a Share Sale Agreement, as amended by the Waiver and Variation Agreement, dated April 11, 2018 (collectively
referred to as the “Share Sale Agreement”) with ETF Securities and WisdomTree International Holdings Ltd, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of WisdomTree
(“WisdomTree International”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to acquire the European ETC Business. On April 11, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition by
purchasing the entire issued share capital of a subsidiary of ETF Securities into which ETF Securities transferred the European ETC Business prior to completion of the
acquisition. Pursuant to the Share Sale Agreement, the Company acquired the European ETC Business for a purchase price consisting of (a) $253.0 million in cash (including
$53.0 million paid from proceeds arising from maturities of securities owned, at fair value), subject to customary adjustments for working capital, and (b) a fixed number of
shares of the Company’s capital stock, consisting of (i) 15,250,000 shares of common stock (the “Common Shares”) and (ii) 14,750 shares of Series A Non-Voting Convertible
Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Shares”) which are convertible, subject to certain restrictions, into an aggregate of 14,750,000 shares of common stock.

On April 11, 2018 and in connection with the acquisition, the Company and WisdomTree International entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”), by and
among the Company, WisdomTree International, certain subsidiaries of the Company as guarantors, the lenders party thereto and Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as
administrative agent, collateral agent, L/C Issuer and lender. Under the Credit Agreement, the lenders have extended a $200.0 million term loan (the “Term Loan”) to
WisdomTree International, the net cash proceeds of which were used by WisdomTree International, together with other cash on hand, to complete the acquisition and pay
certain related fees, costs and expenses, and made a $50.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolver” and, together with the Term Loan, the “Credit Facility”) available to
the Company and WisdomTree International for revolving borrowings from time to time for working capital, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes. Interest on the
Term Loan accrues at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR, plus up to 2.00% (commencing at LIBOR, plus 1.75%), and interest on the Revolver accrues at a rate per annum equal
to LIBOR, plus up to 1.50% (commencing at LIBOR, plus 1.25%), in each case, with the exact interest rate margin determined based on the Total Leverage Ratio (as defined
below). The Revolver is also subject to a facility fee equal to a rate per annum of up to 0.50% of the actual daily amount the aggregate commitments (whether used or unused)
under the Revolver, with the exact facility fee rate determined based on the Total Leverage Ratio. The Credit Facility matures on April 11, 2021 (the “Maturity Date”). The
Term Loan does not amortize and the entire principal balance is due in a single payment on the Maturity Date. “Total Leverage Ratio” means, as of the last day of any fiscal
quarter, the ratio of Consolidated Total Debt of the Company and its restricted subsidiaries (as defined in the Credit Agreement) as of such date to Consolidated EBITDA of the
Company and its restricted subsidiaries (as defined in the Credit Agreement) for the four consecutive fiscal quarters ended on such date.

The unaudited pro forma combined financial information has been derived from and should be read in conjunction with:
 

•  WisdomTree’s historical audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017 included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 1, 2018; and

 

•  The audited combined and carve-out financial statements of the European ETC Business as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed herewith as Exhibit 99.2.

The unaudited pro forma combined financial statements do not necessarily reflect what the combined company’s balance sheet or statement of operations would have
been had the acquisition occurred on the dates indicated. They also may not be useful in predicting the future financial condition and results of operations of the combined
company. The actual balance sheet and results of operations may differ significantly from the pro forma amounts reflected herein due to a variety of factors. In addition, the
unaudited pro forma combined statement of operations does not reflect any future planned cost saving initiatives following the completion of the acquisition.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Balance Sheet
Year Ended December 31, 2017

(In Thousands)
 

   

WisdomTree
Investments,

Inc.   

European
ETC

Business
IFRS

(in £)(1)   

European
ETC

Business
US GAAP

(in $)(1)   

European ETC
Business
Reporting

Reclassifications
and Other

Adjustments   

Purchase
Accounting
and Other
Pro Forma

Adjustments  Pro Forma  
Assets:        
Current assets:        

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 54,193  £ 15,001  $ 20,251  $ —    $ (13,316) 4(a)  $ 61,128 
Securities owned, at fair value    66,294   —     —     —     (53,000) 4(a)   13,294 
Securities held-to-maturity    1,000   —     —     —     —     1,000 
Accounts receivable    21,309   5,907   7,974   —     —     29,283 
Income taxes receivable    6,978   —     —     —     —     6,978 
Due from related parties    —     2,873   3,879   —     —     3,879 
Prepaid expenses    3,550   497   671   —     —     4,221 
Bullion held    —     105   142   —     —     142 
Other current assets    1,007   —     —     —     —     1,007 

  

Total current assets    154,331   24,383   32,917   —     (66,316)   120,932 
Fixed assets, net    10,693   143   193   —     —     10,886 
Note receivable    18,748   —     —     —     —     18,748 
Indemnification receivable    —     —     —     —     29,047 4(b)   29,047 
Securities held-to-maturity    20,299   —     —     —     —     20,299 
Deferred tax asset, net    1,050   110   149   —     —     1,199 
Investments, carried at cost    35,187   101   136   —     —     35,323 
Goodwill    1,799   —     —     —     84,850 3   86,649 
Intangible assets    12,085   35,633   48,105   (48,105) 2(a)   602,396 3   614,481 
Other noncurrent assets    793   —     —     —     1,394 4(c)   2,187 

  

Total assets   $ 254,985  £ 60,370  $ 81,500  $ (48,105)  $ 651,371  $939,751 
  

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity        
Liabilities:        
Current liabilities:        

Fund management and administration payable   $ 20,099  £ 670  $ 905  $ —    $ —    $ 21,004 
Compensation and benefits payable    28,053   2,388   3,224   —     668 4(d)   31,945 
Income taxes payable    —     5   7   —     29,047 4(b)   29,054 
Due to related parties    —     2   3   —     —     3 
Deferred consideration    —     5,880   7,938   (7,938) 2(b)   11,870 4(e)   11,870 
Gold due to vendors of Gold Bullion Securities entities    —     2,950   3,983   (3,983) 2(b)   —     —   
Securities sold, but not yet purchased, at fair value    950   —     —     —     —     950 
Accounts payable and other liabilities    8,246   5,512   7,440   —     14,465 4(f)   30,151 

  

Total current liabilities:    57,348   17,407   23,500   (11,921)   56,050   124,977 
Deferred consideration    —     91,237   123,170   (123,170) 2(b)   160,876 4(e)   160,876 
Long-term debt    —     —     —     —     193,000 4(g)   193,000 
Deferred rent payable    4,686   —     —     —     —     4,686 
Subordinated loan    —     1,500   2,025   (2,025) 2(c)   —     —   

  

Total liabilities    62,034   110,144   148,695   (137,116)   409,926   483,539 
  

Preferred stock    —     —     —     —     59,697 4(h)   59,697 
  

Stockholders’ equity:        
Preferred stock    —     —     —     —     73,053 4(h)   73,053 
Common stock    1,370   —     —     —     153 4(i)   1,523 
Additional paid-in capital    216,006   —     —     21,816 2(d)   115,281 4(i)   353,103 
Net Parent investment    —     (49,774)   (67,195)   67,195 2(d)   —     —   
Accumulated other comprehensive income    291   —     —     —     —     291 
Accumulated deficit    (24,716)   —     —     —     (6,739) 4(j)   (31,455) 

  

Total stockholders’ equity    192,951   (49,774)   (67,195)   89,011   181,748   396,515 
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 254,985  £ 60,370  $ 81,500  $ (48,105)  $ 651,371  $939,751 
  

See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma combined financial statements
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2017

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)
 

   

WisdomTree
Investments,

Inc.    

European
ETC

Business
IFRS

(in £)(1)   

European
ETC

Business
US GAAP

(in $)(1)   

European ETC
Business
Reporting

Reclassifications
and

Other
Adjustments   

Purchase
Accounting
and Other
Pro Forma

Adjustments  Pro Forma  
Operating Revenues:         

Advisory fees   $ 227,775   £61,961  $ 79,930  $ —    $ —    $307,705 
Settlement gain    6,909    —     —     —     (6,909) 4(k)   —   
Service fees    —      5,691   7,341   (7,341) 2(e)   —     —   
Creation and redemption fees    —      401   517   —     —     517 
Other income    2,715    872   1,125   —     (2,184) 4(l)   1,656 

    

Total revenues    237,399    68,925   88,913   (7,341)   (9,093)   309,878 
    

Operating Expenses:         
Compensation and benefits    81,493    12,757   16,457   —     —     97,950 
Fund management and administration    42,144    13,276   17,126   (1,258) 2(f)   —     58,012 
Marketing and advertising    14,402    2,772   3,576   —     —     17,978 
Sales and business development    13,811    713   920   1,187 2(g)   —     15,918 
Contractual gold payments    —      9,186 4(e)   11,850   —     —     11,850 
Professional and consulting fees    10,086    —     —     669 2(g)   (4,373) 4(m)   6,382 
Occupancy, communications and equipment    5,415    —     —     1,075 2(g)   —     6,490 
Depreciation and amortization    1,395    —     —     106 2(g)   —     1,501 
Third-party sharing arrangements    3,393    —     —     —     —     3,393 
License, marketing support and participation fees    —      2,800   3,612   (3,612) 2(h)   —     —   
Other    7,068    2,769   3,572   (3,037) 2(g)   —     7,603 

    

Total expenses    179,207    44,273   57,113   (4,870)   (4,373)   227,077 
    

Operating income    58,192    24,652   31,800   (2,471)   (4,720)   82,801 
Other Income/(Expenses):         

Interest expense    —      —     —     —     (12,061) 4(n)   (12,061) 
Loss on revaluation of deferred consideration      (1,845) 4(e)   (2,380)   —     —     (2,380) 
Interest income    —      —     —     —     2,861 4(l)   2,861 
Settlement gain    —      —     —     —     6,909 4(k)   6,909 
Revaluation of gold    —      170   219   —     —     219 
Other gains and losses, net    —      (24)   (31)   —     (677) 4(l)   (708) 

    

Income before taxes    58,192    22,953   29,608   (2,471)   (7,688)   77,641 
Income tax expense    30,993    379   489   (41) 2(i)   (214) 4(o)   31,227 

    

Net income   $ 27,199   £22,574  $ 29,119  $ (2,430)  $ (7,474)  $ 46,414 
    

Net income per common share - basic   $ 0.20       4(p)  $ 0.30 
    

Net income per common share - diluted   $ 0.20       4(p)  $ 0.28 
    

Weighted-average common shares - basic    134,614       15,250 4(p)   149,864 
    

Weighted-average common shares - diluted    136,003       30,000 4(p)   166,003 
    

See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma combined financial statements
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Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Statements
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Note 1 – Basis of Presentation

The unaudited pro forma combined financial statements were derived from the historical audited consolidated financial statements of WisdomTree and the audited
combined and carve-out financial statements of the European ETC Business of ETF Securities, each as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The audited combined and carve-out financial statements of the European ETC Business of ETF Securities were prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and presented in British pounds sterling. There were no adjustments necessary to convert the IFRS financial statements into U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The historical financial information was translated from British pounds sterling to U.S. dollars using the following historical
rates:
 

 •  Average exchange rate for the year ended December 31, 2017 (Statement of Operations): 1.29
 

 •  Period end exchange rate as of December 31, 2017 (Balance Sheet): 1.35

The historical audited consolidated financial statements of WisdomTree have been adjusted in the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements to give effect to
pro forma events that are directly attributable to the acquisition, factually supportable and are expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results following the
acquisition. The unaudited pro forma combined balance sheet gives effect to the acquisition as if it had occurred on December 31, 2017. The unaudited pro forma combined
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017 give effect to the acquisition as if it had occurred on January 1, 2017.

The unaudited pro forma combined financial statements are based on a preliminary purchase price allocation, provided for illustrative purposes only, and do not
necessarily reflect what the combined company’s balance sheet or statement of operations would have been had the acquisition occurred on the dates indicated. They also may
not be useful in predicting the future financial condition and results of operations of the combined company. The actual balance sheet and results of operations may differ
significantly from the pro forma amounts reflected herein due to a variety of factors. In addition, the unaudited pro forma combined statement of operations does not reflect any
future planned cost saving initiatives following the completion of the acquisition.

Note 2 – European ETC Business Reporting Reclassifications and Other Adjustments
 

(a) Adjustment to write-off historical intangible assets of the European ETC Business of £35,633 ($48,105) within the audited combined and carve-out financial statements of
the European ETC Business of ETF Securities.

 

(b) Adjustment to eliminate the carrying value of the deferred consideration reported within the European ETC Business which is re-established in purchase accounting at its
newly ascribed fair value as at the acquisition date (See Note 4(e)). Deferred consideration payable from the last payment date though December 31, 2017 of £2,950
($3,983) was reported by ETF Securities as “Gold due to the vendors of Gold Bullion Securities Entities.” In addition, deferred consideration of £5,880 ($7,938) and
£91,237 ($123,170) was also reported by ETF Securities within current liabilities and long-term liabilities, respectively. ETF Securities valued the deferred consideration
using the gold spot price of £960.840 ($1,297) per fine troy ounce and a discount rate of 9.5%.

 

(c) Adjustment to reflect the repayment and termination of a subordinated loan of £1,500 ($2,025) by ETF Securities to ETFS Management Company (Jersey) Limited
(“ManJer”) which occurred on February 28, 2018. Cash used to repay the subordinated loan was raised through an issuance of 50,000 ordinary shares of ManJer to ETF
Securities which was recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital.

 

(d) The adjusted net assets of the European ETC Business of $21,816 was reclassified from net Parent investment to additional paid-in capital. This amount was derived as
follows:

 

 •  Reclassification of the unadjusted net Parent investment of -£49,774 (-$67,195) to additional paid-in capital;
 

 •  Write-off of historical intangible assets of the European ETC Business of -£35,633 (-$48,105) (See Note 2(a));
 

 •  Write-off the carrying value of the deferred consideration of the European ETC Business of £100,067 ($135,091) (See Note 2(b)); and
 

 •  Issuance of 50,000 ordinary shares by ManJer to ETF Securities to repay and terminate the subordinated loan of £1,500 ($2,025) which occurred on February 28,
2018 (See Note 2(c)).
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(e) Adjustment to eliminate service fees charged by the European ETC Business of £5,691 ($7,341) to companies within the ETF Securities group that are not part of the
European ETC Business. Following the completion of the acquisition, the European ETC Business no longer provides services to affiliates of ETF Securities.

 

(f) Adjustment to eliminate market making fees of £975 ($1,258) recognized in respect of share warrants issued by ETF Securities to a market maker of the European ETC
Business. These warrants vested on September 16, 2017.

 

(g) Reclassification of certain office costs and ongoing corporate costs reported as other expenses by the European ETC Business to sales and business development ($1,187),
professional and consulting fees ($669), occupancy, communications and equipment ($1,075) and depreciation and amortization ($106).

 

(h) Adjustment to eliminate licensing and marketing support fees £1,867 ($2,408) paid to the World Gold Council and £933 ($1,204) paid to Graham Tuckwell as these
arrangements were terminated in connection with WisdomTree’s acquisition of the European ETC Business.

 

(i) The income tax effects of the adjustments to the results of the European ETC Business of ($41) were calculated using the effective rate of approximately 1.7% rather than
the statutory rate in effect during the year ended December 31, 2017. This rate was used because it is a reasonable representation of the rate that would have been applied
had the adjustments been recorded in the audited financial statements of the European ETC Business as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. For more
information regarding WisdomTree’s anticipated normalized consolidated effective tax rate for the year ending December 31, 2018, see WisdomTree’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Note 3 – Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

On April 11, 2018, WisdomTree acquired the European ETC Business of ETF Securities by purchasing the entire issued share capital of a subsidiary into which ETF
Securities has transferred the European ETC Business prior to completion of the acquisition. Pursuant to the Share Sale Agreement, the Company acquired the European ETC
Business for a purchase price consisting of (a) $253,000 in cash (including $53,000 from paid from proceeds arising from maturities of securities owned, at fair value), subject
to customary adjustments for working capital and (b) a fixed number of shares of WisdomTree’s capital stock, consisting of (i) 15,250,000 Common Shares and (ii) 14,750
Preferred Shares which are convertible, subject to certain restrictions, into an aggregate of 14,750,000 shares of common stock. The remainder of the cash consideration paid
was financed through a $200,000 term loan (See Note 4(n)).

The unaudited pro forma combined financial information was prepared using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations. Accordingly, consideration paid by WisdomTree to complete the acquisition has been allocated to identifiable assets
and liabilities of the European ETC Business based on the estimated fair values as of the closing date of the acquisition. A preliminary allocation of the consideration transferred
was made to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on information currently available and includes WisdomTree’s preliminary valuation of the fair value of tangible
and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price as of the acquisition date:
 

Purchase price  
Preferred Shares issued    14,750 
Conversion ratio    1,000 

  

Common stock equivalents    14,750,000 
Common Shares issued    15,250,000 

  

Total shares issued    30,000,000 
WisdomTree stock price(1)   $ 9.00 

  

Equity portion of purchase price   $ 270,000 
Cash portion of purchase price   

Term loan (See Note 4(n))    200,000 
Cash on hand    53,000 

  

Purchase price    523,000 
Deferred consideration (See Note 4(e))    172,746 
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Adjustment to purchase price(2)    13,316 
  

Total   $709,062 
Preliminary allocation of consideration   
European ETC Business net assets acquired(3)    21,816 
Intangible assets(4)    602,396 

  

Fair value of net assets acquired    624,212 
  

Preliminary goodwill resulting from the acquisition of the European ETC Business(5)   $ 84,850 
  

 
(1) The closing price of WisdomTree’s common stock on April 10, 2018, the last trading day prior to the closing date of the acquisition.
(2) Pursuant to Clause 4.2 of the Share Sale Agreement, if the Completion Working Capital Amount (as defined) is greater than the Target Working Capital Amount (as

defined), then WisdomTree will owe ETF Securities the excess amount.
(3) The carrying value of the European ETC Business net assets acquired approximates fair value (See Note 2(d)).
(4) Represents the portion of the purchase price allocated to customary advisory agreements. These intangible assets were determined to have an indefinite useful life and are

not deductible for tax purposes. A deferred tax liability associated with these intangible assets was not recognized as the intangibles arose in Jersey, where WisdomTree
will be subject to a zero percent tax rate.

(5) Preliminary goodwill arising from the acquisition of the European ETC business represents the value of expected synergies created from combining WisdomTree’s
operations with the European ETC Business. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes as the transaction was structured as a stock acquisition occurring in the United
Kingdom.

The finalization of the purchase price allocation may result in changes to the valuation of assets and liabilities assumed, which could be material. The final allocation may
include changes in fair values of the deferred consideration, changes in the allocation to the intangible assets and goodwill and other fair value adjustments. Accordingly, the pro
forma adjustments related to the allocation of consideration transferred are preliminary and have been presented solely for the purpose of providing the unaudited pro forma
financial information herein. The accounting for the acquisition is expected to be finalized as soon as practicable within the measurement period in accordance with ASC 805,
but in no event later than one year from April 11, 2018.

Note 4 – Other Pro Forma Adjustments
 

(a) Represents (i) a portion of the purchase price payment for the European ETC Business of $53,000 paid from proceeds arising from maturities of securities owned, at fair
value and (ii) an adjustment to the purchase price of $13,316 pursuant to Clause 4.2 of the Share Sale Agreement (See Note 3).

 

(b) WisdomTree has accrued £21,516 ($29,047) for uncertain tax positions. WisdomTree also recorded an offsetting indemnification asset provided by ETF Securities as part
of its agreement to indemnify WisdomTree for any potential claims, for which an amount is being held in escrow. ETF Securities has also agreed to provide additional
collateral by maintaining a minimum working capital balance up to a stipulated amount.

 

(c) Represents deferred issuance costs of $1,394 payable in connection with securing the $50,000 Revolver. These issuance costs will be amortized over the three-year life of
the Revolver.

 

(d) Represents severance of £495 ($668) payable to WisdomTree employees terminated in connection with the acquisition.
 

(e) ETF Securities first acquired Gold Bullion Securities Ltd. (“GBS Issuer”), one of the issuers that WisdomTree acquired as part of the European ETC Business, paying no
upfront consideration. Instead, the consideration was deferred and contracted to be paid by ETF Securities in fixed payments of physical gold bullion equating to 9,500
ounces per year through March 31, 2058 and then subsequently reduced to 6,333 ounces of gold continuing into perpetuity (the “Contractual Gold Payments”).
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ETF Securities’ deferred consideration obligation did not terminate upon WisdomTree’s acquisition of the European ETC Business. Instead, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
WisdomTree assumed the obligation by entering into a Gold Royalty Agreement with ETF Securities, which provides for the same Contractual Gold Payments payable to
ETF Securities in order for ETF Securities to continue to satisfy its deferred consideration obligation. The Contractual Gold Payments are paid from advisory fee income
generated by the physically backed gold exchange traded product issued by GBS Issuer and any other WisdomTree sponsored financial product physically backed by
physical gold (the “Gold ETCs”). The Contractual Gold Payments are subject to adjustment and reduction for declines in advisory fee income generated by the Gold ETCs,
with any reduction remaining due and payable until paid in full. ETF Securities’ recourse is limited to such advisory fee income and has it no recourse back to
WisdomTree for any unpaid amounts. ETF Securities ultimately has the right to claw back GBS Issuer if WisdomTree fails to remit any amounts due.

WisdomTree determined the present value of the deferred consideration of $172,746 using gold futures prices which were extrapolated from the last observable price
(beyond 2023), discounted at a rate of 10.0%. Current and long-term amounts payable were $11,870 and $160,876, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the European ETC Business recognized £9,186 ($11,850) of Contractual Gold Payments arising from the fixed payments of
physical gold bullion (9,500 ounces per annum) and the unwinding of the discount (representing the increase in the carrying amount of the deferred consideration for the
passage of time), as well as a loss on the revaluation of deferred consideration of £1,845 ($2,380) due to the changes in gold prices.

 

(f) Represents a payable for issuance costs associated with the Term Loan and Revolver of $7,000 and $1,394, respectively, as well as a payable of $6,071 for transaction
costs.

 

(g) Represents the $200,000 Term Loan, net of issuance costs of $7,000.
 

(h) Consideration paid to acquire the European ETC Business included 14,750 Preferred Shares which are convertible into an aggregate of 14,750,000 shares of common
stock, subject to certain restrictions. The Preferred Shares are intended to provide ETF Securities with economic rights equivalent to WisdomTree’s common stock on an
as-converted basis. The Preferred Shares have no voting rights, are not transferable and have the same priority with regard to dividends, distributions and payments as
WisdomTree’s common stock. The fair value of this consideration was $132,750, based on the closing price of WisdomTree’s common stock on April 10, 2018 of $9.00
per share, the last trading day prior to the closing of the acquisition.

Temporary equity classification is required for redeemable instruments for which redemption triggers are outside of the issuer’s control. Such classification pertains to
6,633,293 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of 6,633 Preferred Shares subject to the Exchange Cap described below. Therefore, $59,697 has been
classified as temporary equity and the remaining $73,053 has been classified as permanent equity. The restrictions on conversion and redemption rights of the Preferred
Shares are as follows:

Restrictions on Conversion

Limitations on Beneficial Ownership. As described in the Certificate of Designations of Series A Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock filed by
WisdomTree with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on April 10, 2018 (“Certificate of Designations”) WisdomTree will not issue, and ETF
Securities does not have the right to require WisdomTree to issue, any shares of common stock upon conversion of the Preferred Shares if, as a result of
such conversion, ETF Securities (together with certain attribution parties) would beneficially own more than 9.99% of WisdomTree’s outstanding common
stock immediately after giving effect to such conversion.

Exchange Cap. As described in the Certificate of Designations, WisdomTree will not issue any shares of common stock upon conversion of the Preferred
Shares if the issuance would, together with up to 4,000,000 shares of common stock that WisdomTree may, but is not obligated to, issue prior to
December 31, 2018, exceed the aggregate number of shares of common stock that WisdomTree may issue without breaching its obligations under Nasdaq
Capital Market Listing Rule 5635(a)(1), unless WisdomTree obtains stockholder approval for the issuance of common stock upon conversion of the
Preferred Shares in excess of such amount (“Exchange Cap”). Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement between WisdomTree and ETF Securities,
WisdomTree has agreed to seek stockholder approval at its first regularly scheduled annual meeting of stockholders to be held following the closing of the
acquisition.
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Redemption Rights

ETF Securities has the right to redeem the Preferred Shares under the following circumstances. However, WisdomTree will not be obligated to make any such
redemption payments to the extent such payments would be a breach of any covenant or obligation WisdomTree owes to any of its secured creditors or is otherwise
prohibited by applicable law.

Redemption right for failure to obtain stockholder approval. If stockholder approval for the issuance of WisdomTree’s common stock upon conversion of
the Preferred Shares in excess of the Exchange Cap is not obtained by December 31, 2018, ETF Securities will have the right, at its option, to require
WisdomTree to redeem the 6,633 Preferred Shares subject to the Exchange Cap during the period ending on the earlier of (a) December 31, 2020 and
(b) the date stockholder approval for the issuance of the common stock upon conversion of the Preferred Shares in excess of the Exchange Cap is obtained.
Any such redemption will be at a price per Preferred Share equal to the dollar volume-weighted average price for a share of common stock for the
30-trading day period ending on December 31, 2018 multiplied by 1,000. Such redemption payments will be made in 12 equal installments no later than 10
business days following the last day of each of WisdomTree’s 12 fiscal quarters beginning on the day following the date ETF Securities exercises such
redemption right.

Other redemption rights unrelated to stockholder approval. In the event that: (a) the number of shares of WisdomTree’s common stock authorized by its
certificate of incorporation is insufficient to permit WisdomTree to convert all the Preferred Shares requested by ETF Securities to be converted; or (b) ETF
Securities does not, upon completion of a change of control of WisdomTree, receive the same amount per Preferred Share as it would have received had
each outstanding Preferred Share been converted into common stock immediately prior to the change of control, ETF Securities will have the right, at its
option, to require WisdomTree to redeem all the Preferred Shares specified to be converted during the period of time specified in the Certificate of
Designations. Any such redemption will be at a price per Preferred Share equal to the dollar volume-weighted average price for a share of common stock
for the 30-trading day period ending on the date of such attempted conversion or change of control, as applicable, multiplied by 1,000. Such redemption
payment will be made in one payment no later than 10 business days following the last day of WisdomTree’s first fiscal quarter that begins on a date
following the date ETF Securities exercises such redemption right.

 

(i) Consideration paid to acquire the European ETC Business included 15,250,000 Common Shares, par value $0.01. The fair value of this consideration was $137,250, based
upon the closing price of WisdomTree’s common stock on April 10, 2018 of $9.00 per share, the last trading day prior to the closing date of the acquisition. In addition,
additional paid-in capital was reduced to eliminate the European ETC Business net assets acquired of $21,816 (See Note 2(d)).

 

(j) Represents transaction costs of $6,071 and severance costs of $668 incurred in connection with the acquisition of the European ETC Business.
 

(k) Reclassification of a settlement gain of $6,909 recognized by WisdomTree during the year ended December 31, 2017 from operating revenues to other income/(expenses).
 

(l) Reclassification of interest income of $2,861 and other gains and losses, including (i) net realized and unrealized losses of ($1,514) and (ii) other non-operating income of
$837 recognized by WisdomTree during the year ended December 31, 2017 from operating revenues to other income/(expenses).

 

(m) Adjustment to eliminate transaction costs of $4,373 associated with the acquisition of the European ETC Business, recognized by WisdomTree during the year ended
December 31, 2017.

 

(n) To partially finance the acquisition of the European ETC Business, WisdomTree and WisdomTree International entered into a Credit Agreement for a senior secured debt
financing of $250,000 which is comprised of a $200,000 Term Loan and a $50,000 Revolver. Interest on the Term Loan accrues at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR, plus
up to 2.00% (commencing at LIBOR, plus 1.75%), and interest on the Revolver accrues at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR, plus up to 1.50% (commencing at LIBOR,
plus 1.25%), in each case, with the exact interest rate margin determined based on the Total Leverage Ratio. The Revolver is also subject to a facility fee equal to a rate per
annum of up to 0.50% of the actual daily amount the aggregate commitments (whether used or unused) under the Revolver, with the exact facility fee rate determined
based on the Total Leverage Ratio. The Credit Facility matures on the Maturity Date. The Term Loan does not amortize and the entire principal balance is due in a single
payment on the Maturity Date.
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The unaudited pro forma combined statement of operations has been prepared as if the acquisition of the European ETC Business had occurred at January 1, 2017 and
therefore a pro forma adjustment has been made to recognize interest expense of $12,061 for the period January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017. This interest expense
was calculated under the effective interest method using 12-month LIBOR of 2.74% plus 1.75% for the $200,000 Term Loan and 0.50% on the $50,000 undrawn Revolver
and includes amortization of deferred issuance costs. The impact of a 1/8% change in the interest rate on the term loan would result in a $250 change in interest expense.

 

(o) Pro forma adjustments made to recognize interest expense under the Credit Facility (Note 4(n)) and to eliminate transaction costs associated with the acquisition of the
European ETC Business (Note 4(m)) had the effect of reducing income before taxes by $7,688. The tax effect of these items of $214 was calculated using the applicable
statutory tax rates, as follows:

 
   Interest Expense           

   
United

Kingdom   
United
States   

Total
interest
expense   

Transaction
costs   Total  

Impact to income before taxes   $(11,286)  $ (775)  $(12,061)  $ 4,373  $(7,688) 
Non-taxable/(deductible)(1)    10,225(1)   —     10,225   (3,624)(2)   6,601 

  

Taxable income/(loss)   $ (1,061)   (775)   (1,836)   749   (1,087) 
Statutory tax rate    x  19.2%   x 38.1%   x 27.2%   x  38.1%   x 19.7% 

  

Income tax expense/(benefit)   $ (204)  $ (295)  $ (499)  $ 285  $ (214) 
  

 
(1) Interest expense is subject to limitations based upon EBITDA earned in the United Kingdom. For information regarding WisdomTree’s anticipated normalized

consolidated effective tax rate for the year ending December 31, 2018, see WisdomTree’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017.
(2) Represents non-deductible transaction costs.
 

(p) Pro forma basic earnings per share (“EPS”) was computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average pro forma number of
common shares outstanding. Net income available to common stockholders represents pro forma combined net income reduced by an allocation of earnings to
participating securities. This included an allocation of undistributed net income to the 14,750 Preferred Shares (which are convertible into 14,750,000 shares of common
stock) issued in connection with acquisition of the European ETC Business as these shares have the same priority with regard to dividends, distributions and payments as
WisdomTree’s common stock.

Pro forma basic EPS of $0.30 was calculated as follows:
 

Income Available to Common Stockholders   
Pro forma net income(1)   $ 46,414 
Less: Income distributed to participating securities(2)    (696) 
Less: Undistributed income allocable to participating securities(3)    (268) 

  

Income available to common stockholders(4)   $ 45,450 
  

Weighted Average Common Shares – Basic (in 000’s)   
As reported in WisdomTree’s 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K    134,614 
Common Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of the European ETC Business    15,250 

  

Pro forma Weighted Average Common Shares - Basic    149,864 
  

Net income per common share - Basic   $ 0.30 
  

 
(1) May not be useful in predicting the future results of operations of the combined company.
 

9



(2) Income distributed to participating securities represents actual dividends paid during the year ended December 31, 2017 on unvested restricted stock awards granted to
WisdomTree employees. The Preferred Shares, which are participating securities, were allocated no distributed earnings in the computation above as they were not
outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2017.

(3) Undistributed income allocable to participating securities includes an allocation to the Preferred Shares.
(4) Includes dividends paid to common stockholders of $0.32 per share (or $43,081) during the year ended December 31, 2017. In connection with the acquisition of the

European ETC Business, WisdomTree’s Board of Directors adjusted the quarterly dividend to $0.03 ($0.12 annually), beginning with the dividend payment in the first
quarter of 2018.

Pro forma diluted EPS is calculated under both the treasury stock and two-class method and reflects the reduction in earnings per share assuming options or other contracts to
issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock (if dilutive). The calculation that results in the most dilutive EPS amount for common stock is reported
below.

Pro forma diluted EPS of $0.28 was calculated as follows:
 
Pro forma net income(1)   $ 46,414 

  

Weighted Average Common Shares – Diluted (in 000’s)   
As reported in WisdomTree’s 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K    136,003 
Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of the European ETC Business   

Common Shares    15,250 
Common stock issuable upon conversion of Preferred Shares    14,750 

  

Pro forma Weighted Average Common Shares - Basic    166,003 
  

Net income per common share - Diluted   $ 0.28 
  

 
(1) May not be useful in predicting the future results of operations of the combined company.

Note 5 – Estimated Annual Cost Savings

The unaudited pro forma combined financial statements do not reflect the realization of any expected cost savings or other synergies from the acquisition of the European
ETC Business. Annual pre-tax cost savings are estimated to be approximately £9,500 ($12,255) and are substantially headcount related. The results of the European ETC
Business for the year ended December 31, 2017 include compensation costs related to 80 employees as compared to 42 employees that remained with the European ETC
Business upon the closing of the acquisition. In addition, eight WisdomTree employees were terminated in connection with the acquisition. The estimated annual pre-tax cost
savings also includes marketing, occupancy and sales and business development synergies.

Although WisdomTree believes such cost savings and other synergies will be realized following the acquisition, there can be no assurance that these cost savings or any
other synergies will be achieved in full. In addition, the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements do not reflect integration costs, severance costs and other expenses
associated with these cost savings, which are expected to be expensed in WisdomTree’s consolidated statement of operations.
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